

GLOBAL FOOD INNOVATION INDEX

February 2021



Agri-Food Analytics Lab

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Global Food Innovation Index compares factors contributing to innovation in the food, beverage and agri-food industries across the following ten countries: Canada; the United States; Mexico; the United Kingdom; France; Germany; Italy; the Netherlands; Japan; and Australia. The Index is separated into four main pillars which are: Regulatory Environment; Business Competitiveness; Market Readiness; and Intellectual Property and Research & Development. Each pillar was divided into sub-pillars, with each sub pillar consisting of a number of criteria that countries would be evaluated on. Each criterion was worth three points, which were added to create a total possible score of 75 across all four pillars. Data was collected from mostly government websites, where available. Both language and national security concerns posed barriers to data collection, but this was noted in scoring

PILLAR 1	PILLAR 2	PILLAR 3	PILLAR 4
Regulatory Environment (15)	Business Competitiveness (24)	Market Readiness (18)	Intellectual Property and Research & Development (15)
1.1 Regulatory Environment (9)	2.1 Business Competitiveness (12)	3.1 Training and education (12)	4.1 Proprietary protection (6)
1.1.1 Approval Periods	2.1.1 Trade Balance	3.1.1 Student Incentives	4.1.1 Patent Procedures
1.1.2 Food Safety Assurance	2.1.2 CPI	3.1.2 Education Trends	4.2.2 Patent Protection
1.1.3 Transparency & Communication	2.1.3 Economic Indicators	3.1.3 Employment Trends	4.2 Research and Development (9)
1.2 Environmental Restrictions (6)	2.2 Capital Credit and Credit Availability (6)	3.1.4 Job Retraining	4.2.1 Federal Budget
1.2.1 Waste Management	2.2.1 Government Grants and Loans	3.2 Diversity and Inclusion (6)	4.2.2 National Data Strategies
1.2.2 EPA & ERA	2.2.2 Foreign Direct Investment per Capita	3.2.1 Incentives and Equitable Workplace Training	4.2.3 Privacy Laws
	2.3 Distribution Networks (9)	3.2.2 Pay Gap Analysis	
	2.3.1 Large-Scale Competitors		
	2.3.2 Private Labels		
	2.3.3 Shipping Capacity		

Regulatory Environment contributes to innovation through implementing guidelines and laws that businesses must follow when releasing new food products. Business competitiveness contributes to innovation through providing context of how new products may perform based on a country's economy, how products can be distributed within a country, and what the competition is like for new food products or businesses. Market readiness contributes to innovation through providing an overview of employment and earning prospects as well as incentives for minorities to enter the food production industry. Intellectual property contributes to innovation through examining how new inventions are protected, how information is shared, and what sort of funding exists to support innovators.

The findings concluded that the United Kingdom performed best overall with our Index with a total of 53 points, followed by the United States with 51, Canada with 47, Australia with 44, Germany with 43, France with 35, the Netherlands and Japan each with 32, Italy with 28, and Mexico with 19. But weighted results do better represent how countries performed when evaluating selected metrics. Weighted results do not penalize countries for which data was not available/accessible. Weighted results re-balance the data in order to more accurately reflect how countries are performing based on metrics we could find data for. With this ranking, Canada places fifth overall.

A priority for Canada should be enhancing our relationship with technological innovation in the broadest sense. The safety of new and existing food products being developed and manufactured in Canada can benefit from the technology applications that will ensure Canadians, and our export markets trust our products. Technological innovation means an intelligent engagement with software and systems, such as predictive analytics, AI and machine learning are utilized to enhance human decision-making and efficiency. This also means thinking and applying bold use of advanced machinery, equipment, packaging, and robotics that improve the quality of Canadian food products.

If Canada is to improve its ranking in Global food innovation, the costs of doing business for the food industry needs to be addressed head on. This ranges from everything from the cost of farm products, to the cost of manufacturing products, to the costs of distribution, the costs of listing products with retailers, and the costs of compliance with a range of regulations. The amount of Canadian food products (SKUs) developed and manufactured in Canada has continued to fall, and in 2017, 83% of the food products shipped to Canada were neither developed nor made here (Analysis Group, 2018).

As Canadians, we can look at the bright and bold initiatives underway across the country. An example is the food incubator in Calgary, District Ventures, which is fostering an ecosystem of new food start-ups. Canada needs to find a way towards greater cooperation between our industries, governments and research centres. We can also use the experience from the pandemic, and look to a future in a post-pandemic whereas Canadian food processors and innovators, we can think of how we add value to the broader economy, to sustainability, to health, to value for the dollar, and to a reputation for excellence and innovation in all the markets we serve, domestically or internationally.

Country	Sec. 1	Rank Pillar 1	Sec. 2	Rank Pillar 2	Sec. 3	Rank Pillar 3	Sec. 4	Rank Pillar 4	Total Score	Final Rank (weighted results)
	/15		Total /24		Total /21		Total /15		/75	
Canada	9	5	14	6	14	2	10	4	47	5
United States	9	5	16	3	15	1	11	2	51	2
Mexico	1	10	12	8	0	10	6	7	19	8
United Kingdom	11	1	18	1	12	3	12	1	53	1
Italy	3	9	13	7	7	6	5	10	28	10
Germany	11	1	17	2	9	4	6	7	43	3
France	6	8	16	3	3	9	10	4	35	9
Netherlands	10	3	12	8	4	8	6	7	32	6
Japan	9	5	9	10	6	7	8	6	32	7
Australia	10	3	15	5	8	5	11	2	44	4

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary		2
Project Team		7
Countries		8
Pillars		8
Section 1: Regulatory Environment	8	
1.1 Regulatory Environment		8
1.1.1 Approval Periods for New and Novel Food Products		8
1.1.2 Food Safety Assurance Measures		8
1.1.3 Transparency and Communication		9
1.2 Environmental Restrictions		9
1.2.1 Waste Management and Packaging Laws		9
1.2.2 Environmental Risk Assessments		9
Section 2: Business Competitiveness	10	
2.1 Economic Indicators		10
2.1.1 Exportation and Importation of Food Products		10
2.1.2 Consumer Price Index		10
2.1.3 Annual Long-term Interest Rate		10
2.1.4 Annual Exchange Rates		10
2.1.5 Labour Productivity		10
2.2 Capital Credit and Credit Availability		11
2.2.1 Government Grants and Loans		11
2.2.2 Foreign Investment		11
2.3 Distribution Networks		11
2.3.1 Number of Large-Scale Competitors		11
2.3.2 Prevalence of Private Labels		11
2.3.3 Shipping Capacity		12
Section 3: Market Readiness	12	
3.1 Training and Education		12
3.1.1 Incentives for New Students		12
3.1.2 Education Trends		12
3.1.3 Employment Trends		12
3.1.4 Job Retraining Programs		13
3.2 Diversity and Inclusion		13
3.2.1 Incentives and Equitable Training Programs		13
3.2.2 Pay Gap Analysis		13
Section 4: Intellectual Property and Research and Development	14	
4.1 Proprietary Protection		14
4.1.1 Patent Procedures		
4.1.2 Patent Protection, Enforcement, and Monitoring		
4.2 Research and Development		
4.2.1 Federal Budgets for Research Spending		
4.2.2 National Data Strategies		
4.2.3 Data Privacy and Restrictions on Access		
wietnoaologies		
Limitations		
Results		

1. Regulatory Environment	16
1.1 Regulatory Environment	
1.1.1 Product Approval Period	
1.1.2 Food Safety Assurance Measures	
1.1.3 Transparency and Communication	
1.2 Environmental Restrictions	
1.2.1 Waste Management	
1.2.2 Environmental Risk Assessments and Environmental Protecti	on Acts 19
Recommendations: Regulatory Environment	
2. Business Competitiveness	21
2.1 Business Competitiveness	
2.1.1 Trade Balance: Food Items (Exports-Imports)	
2.2 Capital and Credit Availability	23
2.2.1 Government Grants and Loans	
2.2.2 Foreign Direct Investment	
2.3 Distribution Networks	24
2.3.1 Large-scale competitors	
2.3.2 Private Label	
2.3.3 Shipping Capacity	
Recommendations: Business Competitiveness	27
3. Market Readiness	28
3.1 Training and Education	
3.1.1 Student Incentives	
3.1.2 Education Trends	
3.1.3 Employment Trends	
3.1.4 Job Retraining Strategies and Professional Development	
3.2 Diversity and Inclusion	
3.2.1 Incentives and Equitable Training Programs	
3.2.2 Pay Gap	
Recommendations: Market Readiness	
4. Intellectual Property and Research & Development	33
4.1 Proprietary Protection	
4.1.1 Patent Procedures	
4.1.2 Patent Protection, Enforcement and Monitoring	
4.2 Research and Development	35
4.2.1 Federal Budget	
4.2.2 National Data Strategy	
4.2.3 Data Privacy and Restrictions	
Recommendations: Intellectual Property and Research & Developmen	<i>t</i> 37
Conclusion	
Appendix 1: International Food Innovation Index Metrics	
Appendix 2: Scores by Pillar	
Appendix 3: Results	
Appendix 4: Scores by Country	
References	

PROJECT TEAM

The Agri-Food Analytics Lab (AAL) at Dalhousie University is distinctively designed to both broaden and deepen food knowledge. It is the first Lab in the country devoted solely to tackling our country's food issues along the entire agriculture and food continuum by collecting, monitoring, mining data continuously, in Canada's both official languages.

Proven analytical tools are the cornerstone guiding our studies to discover, interpret and communicate significative trends found in the gathered data. The primary focus is on the Canadian market while acknowledging that disrupting forces can come from abroad. Nationally and internationally the food landscape is changing fast and it is imperative to better understand the future of food and how we can connect agriculture and food communities together. As such, AAL offers current food knowledge and expertise to drive understanding, innovation and action on the world's food issues. Our goal is to better understand the future of food and how we can connect agriculture and food communities together.

Project Lead:

Dr. Sylvain Charlebois

Professor, Food Distribution and Policy, Faculty of Management Professor, Faculty of Agriculture Senior Director, Agri-food Analytics Lab Dalhousie University

Research Assistants:

Mark Juhasz

Research Associate, Agri-food Analytics Lab, Dalhousie University

Amy Hill

School of Public Administration, Schulich School of Law, Dalhousie University

Lydia Hunsberger

School of Information Management, Dalhousie University

Project Coordinator:

Janèle Vézeau

Editor: Susan Tremills

COUNTRIES

The countries included in the survey that comprises the International Food Innovation Index are Canada, the United States, Mexico, the United Kingdom, France, Italy, Germany, the Netherlands, Japan, and Australia. Each country was selected to provide geographic diversity within the sample, as well as a sample of mid to top performing countries in terms of GPD. Considering this index was generated from a Canadian context, countries were also selected based on trade capacities and competitiveness.

PILLARS

The following section outlines the criteria each country was evaluated on. These criteria each represent an aspect of regulations, organizations, monetary commitments, and training, which directly affect the culture of innovation within the food industry within a specific country. A visual chart of each pillar and its weighting is included in Appendix 1.

SECTION 1: REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

1.1 REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

1.1.1 Approval Periods for New and Novel Food Products

New and novel food products must undergo federal approval before being made available on the consumer market, to protect consumers from potentially harmful substances and ingredients. The length of time it takes for a novel food product to receive approval can impact innovation. Product approval times are largely publicly available through government websites. Each approval period was recorded, and an average was created. Longer approval periods may impede innovation, as they create barriers to manufacturers interested in releasing new products.

1.1.2 Food Safety Assurance Measures

Food safety assurance measures include: an analysis of each country's reporting structure for breaches of food safety; potential repercussions; and protocols enforced to ensure the quality of food being produced and distributed. Countries may implement additional protocols, such as audits or inspections as required. Information regarding food safety protocols is widely available through government websites, the websites of health and safety monitoring divisions, and reports from federal health and safety organizations. Food safety and monitoring is an important aspect of innovation, as consumers want assurance that the products they consume are safe and free from harmful additives or contaminants. Implementing proper food safety assurance measures could increase the quality of products produced, as well as the level of trust consumers have in food manufacturing businesses, impacting innovation through consumers trusting new products, as they can be assured the product has been tested and inspected for harmful materials.

1.1.3 Transparency and Communication

Each country was evaluated on the transparency of information, which includes the quantity, quality, and currency of publicly available information surrounding food processing laws, health and safety laws, and other industry information relevant to both consumers and producers. Transparency was evaluated on accessibility features of government websites, including available languages and features such as text-to-speech or text adjustment. Communication was evaluated based on the various communication methods governments use to disseminate crucial information regarding food safety or production, or methods in which governing bodies incorporate civilian and industry feedback into decisions regarding legislation affecting food production. All information for this section was found through systematically evaluating government websites and noting the accessibility features available on the home page, viewing site maps, and looking for contact forms or public engagement forums.

1.2 ENVIRONMENTAL RESTRICTIONS

1.2.1 Waste Management and Packaging Laws

This section examined the prevalence of laws regarding waste management and packaging, including legal responsibility of manufacturers to manage waste created by products throughout production or after consumption by the consumer. Packaging and waste laws may affect the creation of certain packaged and processed products, and restrictive packaging and waste laws may force producers to create new solutions to find more environmentally sustainable packaging solutions. This may affect innovation, as countries require materials that encounter food products to undergo environmental risk and health assessments, similar to the procedure of approving novel food products. At the same time, many consumers are becoming increasingly conscious of their environmental footprint and are interested in consuming environmentally responsible products. Laws that encourage companies to produce products in a more environmentally conscious manner may in turn increase the products appeal to more consumers (Maurizio & Silvia, 2020; Qasim, Liang, Guo, Saeed, & Badar, 2019).

1.2.2 Environmental Risk Assessments

Environmental risk assessments (ERAs) are procedures put in place by government divisions to ensure that the manufacturing, production, or distribution of new and novel food products do not have irreversible negative effects on the physical environment, including plant, animal, and human health. ERAs are often dependant on the type of product being proposed, and the requirements for environmental risk assessments vary based on country and product. While stringent ERAs may have longer observation or application procedures, less stringent ERAs may lead to companies releasing or creating products that are unsuitably harmful to the natural environment, or human, plant, or animal health. Information on ERAs is publicly available through federal environmental departments and government websites. ERAs were included as a metric, due to the fact that ERAs help mitigate health risks as well as environmental damage, and having clear policies ensures that companies are following laws and upholding their social responsibility to protect the environment and consumers to the best of their ability.

SECTION 2: BUSINESS COMPETITIVENESS

2.1 ECONOMIC INDICATORS

2.1.1 Exportation and Importation of Food Products

Statistics observing the quantity of food products being imported and exported are publicly available through a database hosted by MIT. Trade activity is tracked in a dollar amount, and the following trade areas were recorded: Foodstuffs, Vegetables, Animal products, and By-products. By quantifying the amount of food and food products countries import and export, it is better understood how the food and beverage industry contributes to a country's trade level (percentage of GDP exported) and trade balance (the difference between exports and imports).

2.1.2 Consumer Price Index

The consumer price index (CPI) measures the price of a specific basket of goods and, when compared to a base year, provides a measure of inflation. CPI is often recorded specifically for food products to provide a measure of food price inflation in a country. CPI is generally measured by government statistics departments and provided on their websites as annual measures. If it is not available there, a country's central bank may provide the measurement. The CPI contributes to an overall picture of the food market from the consumer's point of view. The CPI might also be worth considering in comparison to other countries, to determine where an innovator can receive a relatively higher price for their products, or to consider where price changes are more volatile and might not lead to a consistent income for their business.

2.1.3 Annual Long-term Interest Rate

The long-term interest rate measures the rates of government bonds traded on the market and provides an indication of the overall interest rates affecting business investments as markets are often integrated; the OECD measures the annual long-term interest rates for each country. While government funding may be available to innovators, the cost of bank loans is important for innovation and can be indicated by interest rates. Where a country experiences higher interest rates, borrowing money is costlier for innovators and can be a barrier to innovation or place more pressure on governments to provide funding.

2.1.4 Annual Exchange Rates

Most countries operate on a floating exchange rate, meaning the exchange rate changes in response to other countries' exchange rates. Exchange rates indicate the relationship between the price of domestic goods and the price of foreign goods. Exchange rates in terms of Canadian dollars are published by the Bank of Canada. An increase in the value of a country's currency relative to the Canadian dollar means the country's goods are relatively more expensive. This balance impacts a country's ability to import and export goods, including food.

2.1.5 Labour Productivity

Labour productivity measures the growth in GDP per hour worked. Data about the food sector's labour productivity can be collected from the OECD. This variable contributed to an overall picture of each economy's productivity and allowed for the assessment of innovation in countries with higher labour productivity relative to other countries.

2.2 CAPITAL CREDIT AND CREDIT AVAILABILITY

2.2.1 Government Grants and Loans

This section evaluated the prevalence of monetary support provided by federal bodies to businesses within the agri-food and food and beverage industries to incentivize innovation within established industries. This metric was measured by the availability of funding programs, how funding is dispersed, and the accessibility of information regarding federal funding. Information on funding was found through consulting government websites and through affiliated databases. Government loans are often provided at lower interest rates, reducing the cost of borrowing money for innovators. Furthermore, when government grants are available, innovators can take on less debt from the private sector and reallocate those funds into their innovations.

2.2.2 Foreign Investment

Foreign direct investment considers the inflow of foreign capital into another country. Annual foreign direct investment inflow data is available from the OECD. Foreign investments not only provide additional capital to companies, but along with the capital, there might also be increased economic growth and new technologies brought to the market because of foreign involvement. Population data was retrieved to create a measure of foreign direct investment per capita to compare across countries and account for different sizes in populations and economies. When it comes to innovation, new flows of capital and technology will be important for countries as they continue to grow.

2.3 DISTRIBUTION NETWORKS

2.3.1 Number of Large-Scale Competitors

The number of large-scale competitors was assessed based on the percentage of food market share in a country relative to other competitors and same-store sales. The number of large competitors indicates market structures that innovators face when introducing new products. Information about companies is available through company websites, statistics groups, and through governing bodies. Countries which have fewer large-scale competitors might see these companies having greater market influence. New innovations likely need to adhere to the standards and policies dictated by the large-scale corporations to be introduced through their networks.

2.3.2 Prevalence of Private Labels

This category assessed whether private labels exist in a country's grocery industry, and how successful the private labels are based on volume of private label products and the focus of these products. Data was available on companies' websites. Private label success will affect where innovation occurs. For example, if a private label is successful, it will be a barrier to market entry for a new product outside of the label. Innovation may, in that case, occur through the label rather than by new market entry.

2.3.3 Shipping Capacity

This category examined a country's access to ports, airports, and trains. Shipping capacity is important for products to get to market, both domestically and internationally. The number of ports, airports, or railways present in a country all affect a country's shipping capacities. Transportation information was found on the transportation agencies' websites, government websites, or third-party websites. Large-scale competitors already have distribution networks in place, but smaller innovators entering the market need access to transportation and shipping to distribute their products.

SECTION 3: MARKET READINESS

3.1 TRAINING AND EDUCATION

3.1.1 Incentives for New Students

The availability of federal grants to prospective students may affect their decisions to pursue postsecondary education, whether through university, college, trade school, or apprenticeships. As the cost of post-secondary education rises, young people are often forced to take out large loans to pay for education, although federal grants and scholarships can also be awarded to students seeking to further their education. Information on the availability of grants and scholarships was found through government websites and through education departments. Countries with lower tuition rates and more funding options may incentivize citizens to pursue higher education, as it creates less financial burden. Skilled labourers, technicians, technologists, and other skilled workers are needed in the agri-food and food and beverage industries. A lack of students pursuing higher education or training that could be applicable to these fields could result in future underemployment, lower productivity, and lower innovation.

3.1.2 Education Trends

This section examined graduate employment rates as well as the degree of education required to gain employment within the agri-food and food and beverage industries. Graduate employment rates can be found through analyzing employment statistics found on government websites through the education department or government open-data repositories. High employment rates indicate a need for professionals within a sector and may also incentivize prospective students to pursue careers in specific industries if they feel as though they are highly likely to gain employment after graduation. Graduate employment rates are often distinguished by level of education. If it is a trend within an industry to hire individuals with a high level of education, this could create a barrier to individuals looking to enter an industry, as pursuing higher education is costly and can be a lengthy process.

3.1.3 Employment Trends

This category examined the employment rate within agriculture and food manufacturing industries, and annual wages in comparison to the national average wage of each country. Average annual wages are available from the OECD; individual countries should collect employment data

by sector as well as wage data by sector. Countries with high employment rates or above average earnings could incentivize individuals to work in food manufacturing or agri-food industries, as they would likely gain employment and earn better wages. If employment and wages within these sectors are low, individuals may be discouraged from pursuing a career in these industries, as they would be less likely to gain employment or a good wage, thus potentially impacting innovation through fewer workers or inferior working conditions.

3.1.4 Job Retraining Programs

This category evaluated the prevalence of programs aimed at training individuals looking to switch careers or gain additional training to assist them in furthering their careers. Most job retraining programs are targeted toward veterans or individuals from marginalized communities who face barriers to accessing education, although the availability of federal incentives for job retraining varies based on country. Retraining incentives help individuals either advance in their current careers or change career paths, which affects innovation through potentially allowing more individuals to advance within their careers.

3.2 DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

3.2.1 Incentives and Equitable Training Programs

This section examined benefits for individuals who identify as a minority (people who identify as Indigenous, POC, disabled, LGBTQIA+, or female) and for businesses that actively participate in creating diverse workforces through training, hiring, and earning certificates. Incentives such as grants or specialized jobs were examined; incentives, diversity statements, and equitable employment opportunities were often found through government websites or the department of labour. Included in this metric were incentives for businesses, which examined the prevalence of federal diversity training initiatives, anti-discrimination laws, and diversity statements. Having a clear, transparent, and easily accessible anti-discrimination law ensures that minorities can be protected within the workplace and can gain easy access to a document that outlines their rights. Federal diversity training initiatives often reward businesses that complete the training with certain certifications. Businesses that participate in the training may also have employee groups that act on the behalf of minorities to advocate for equal treatment or other types of support. Studies show that diversity within a workplace positively impacts innovation in addition to contributing to staff retention rates and overall employee satisfaction (Ahmed, Atif, Hossain, & Mia, 2019; Brimhall & Mor Barak, 2018; Sabharwal, 2014; Díaz-García, González-Moreno, & Sáez-Martínez, 2013).

3.2.2 Pay Gap Analysis

This category examined the wage discrepancy between male and female workers within an industry. Where industry-specific wage data was not available, overall earnings were used instead. Pay discrepancies were calculated as a percentage, then averaged to create an overall average gap. Countries with high wage gaps within the agri-food and food and beverage industries may discourage women from participating in the industry as they are less likely to earn high wages. Wage data is not available by race for any country other than the United States, so gender was the only factor included when calculating the gap.

SECTION 4: INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

4.1 PROPRIETARY PROTECTION

4.1.1 Patent Procedures

Patents protect new inventions, including the following: products, compositions, machines, processes, and any improvements in these categories (Canadian Intellectual Property Office, 2018).¹ Patents create incentives for research and development because they assure innovators that, for a limited time, they will have exclusivity over a product in the market. Patent procedures were measured by the length of time it takes for patents to be granted by the governing body, whether there are fees associated with the procedure, whether fee schedules provided allowances for different patent applications, the lifetime of the patent, and any other barriers. Information surrounding the patent procedure can be found on government websites. Patent grants that take a significant amount of time create barriers to innovation in a country because applicants may be hesitant to release a product into the market without patent protection.

4.1.2 Patent Protection, Enforcement, and Monitoring

Patents are protected by various schemes, including both domestic and international governing bodies and laws. This section examined the schemes that are available to patent holders; how patents are monitored and enforced; and, the recourse available if a patent is breached or the penalties that apply. In this variable, both domestic and international schemes, available on government websites, were considered. A patent will not spur innovation if it cannot be protected.

4.2 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

4.2.1 Federal Budgets for Research Spending

While the banks provide some funding, governments are an important contributor of research funding. This section focuses on government spending on research at a federal level. Research funding data was collected in two ways: (1) as total budgeted expenditure for the fiscal year 2019; and, (2) as a percentage of total government spending to allow researchers to compare a unitless measure of spending across countries. This variable focused on spending in food research.

¹ Copyright protects artistic works, including paintings, drawings, and written works. Copyright law does not protect the idea itself, rather the expression of the idea. Trademarks protect "combinations of letters, words, sounds or designs that distinguish one company's goods or services from those of others in the marketplace" (Canadian Intellectual Property Office, 2016). As this study focuses on food innovation, the proprietary protection category will focus on patents instead of copyright or trademarks.

4.2.2 National Data Strategies

Countries were studied to determine whether the federal government had implemented a data policy or strategy which would be used across different sectors within the country. Data strategies were assessed considering the following: the scope of the strategy (is it for government or does it extend to the private sector); when the strategy was published; whether the strategy is complete; the action steps that are in the strategy and whether there is an accompanying budget for it; any unique factors to the strategy; and, finally which government department, if available, is responsible for the strategy. Data strategies were also evaluated on presentation and accessibility (length, language, use of graphics). While privacy laws are important for dictating how data might be collected, used, and disclosed, data strategies are also important to ensure that there is data to handle.

4.2.3 Data Privacy and Restrictions on Access

Data is important to innovators. Data privacy laws affect what data can be collected and how, and what that data may be used for, or how it may be shared. Data privacy laws for each country were evaluated in terms of prevalence, scope, stringency, and penalties for breaches. Data privacy laws are available on government websites. Data privacy laws should support innovation by allowing innovators access to data on their consumers while balancing citizens' rights to privacy.

METHODOLOGIES

Each pillar is assigned a weighting, based on the number of sub-pillars and on the number of criteria within each sub-pillar. For instance, section 1 is worth 15 points, based on the three criteria in section 1.1, each worth three points (3x3=9) and the two criteria in section 1.2, also worth three points (3x2=6). The total of 15 is reached by adding the total available amount of points for each sub-pillar together (9+6=15), reflecting the total number of points available per section. Scores were only calculated using whole points, and final performance ratings were based on a country's score within a pillar and overall score aggregating all four pillars. Scores of zero were only applicable when the researchers identified a lack of data needed to adequately score a country or encountered restrictions that prevented the researchers' access to the data. A value of N/A was given when the data may exist, but researchers could not access it due to language barriers.

Data was collected using both qualitative and quantitative methods. Qualitative data was analyzed using thematic coding in which common themes were observed to identify a baseline for procedures among the different countries. This baseline was used to create an average, or two out of the possible three points. Countries that have regulations or operations falling outside of the standard procedure were further studied to see if the procedures inhibited or benefited innovation. The outlying countries were again analyzed using thematic coding to identify superior practices or lack of practices, based on the standard procedure as identified through the first round of coding. Countries that took additional measures were awarded an additional point to make their score three out of three. Countries that lacked procedures in comparison to the standard were subtracted a point, making their score one. Quantitative data was analyzed by finding the average within the data presented, then adding or subtracting points for specific countries, based on their performance in relation to the average.

LIMITATIONS

The most significant limitation affecting data collection was language. While there is translation software available, in many cases countries or organizations did not use that technology. As a result, in some cases data was available but could not be accessed, or it was unclear whether the data existed. For example, the primary language in the US is English; however, some US Government websites were available in up to 16 different languages. Japan, as another example, is a country whose primary language is not English, yet most Japanese resources are available in English. In the case of Italy and France, EU countries, many of the government websites were not available in English. English is generally accepted as the international language of business, so when materials relating to innovation are not available in English, this may affect the success of new innovators and their entry into foreign countries.

Government policies on data sharing also posed a barrier to data access. For example, many governments do not share a public, detailed budget, reflecting a different level of comfort with and expectation of government transparency. Also, many governments do not share their transportation data, but this is likely for national security reasons.

RESULTS

1. REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

1.1 Regulatory Environment

The regulatory environment category was based on new product approval periods, food safety assurance protocols and governing bodies, and transparency and communication. Each criterion is worth three points, for a total of nine points available.

	1.1.1	1.1.2	1.1.3	Section 1.1
Country	Approval Periods (/3)	Food Safety Assurance (/3)	Transparency and Communication (/3)	Total (/9)
Canada	1	2	2	5
United States	1	1	3	5
Mexico	N/A	N/A	1	1
United Kingdom	2	2	2	6
Italy	2	N/A	1	3
Germany	2	2	2	6
France	2	N/A	1	3
Netherlands	2	3	2	7
Japan	3	1	2	6
Australia	3	2	1	6

1.1.1 Product Approval Period

The average length of time for a new product or additive to be approved is 17 months. All countries that are EU members, plus the United Kingdom, have a seventeen-month approval period, making this the average length of time for approvals. Therefore, all EU member states included in this study and the United Kingdom have been awarded two points out of the possible three points. Japan has an approval period of a year or more, whereas Australia has a tiered approval system, based on the level of procedure. All approval procedures in Australia take a year or less. Shorter approval periods may increase innovation within the food industry as new products are able to reach consumers more quickly. Therefore, both Australia and Japan have been awarded an additional point for their short approval periods. Canada does not have adequate publicly available data from an authoritative source to determine approval periods. Scientific reviews can take upwards of 13 months; however, this is just one aspect of product approval. The United States has two approval methods, one for ingredients generally recognized as safe (GRAS) but not actually FDA approved, and another approval period for food additives that require FDA approval. Applying for a GRAS notification can take 180 to 270 days, whereas approval from the FDA for a food additive can take up to two years or more. There is no set time frame for approval periods for colour additives. Given that slower approval periods can negatively impact innovation as it takes longer for products to reach consumers, both Canada and the United States were awarded one point for falling below the seventeen-month average. Mexico received an N/A due to a language barrier.

1.1.2 Food Safety Assurance Measures

Governing bodies and organizations responsible for the quality, health, and safety of food products have procedures that dictate how often businesses must undergo inspection as well as how inspections are carried out. Most countries have laws for food processors and producers at both a federal and provincial or state level, as well as some form of additional measure such as random inspections, traceability logs, or preventative plans. Countries were awarded two points if they had either planned or random inspections in conjunction with an additional safety measure. Countries gained an additional point if inspections were unplanned, meaning authorities could inspect a food production plant at any time, and if they had additional measures in place such as food traceability logs or preventative plans. Countries received one point if their procedures were vague, or if they failed to meet the standard procedure. Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, and Australia all received two points, as they had clear policies on either planned or random inspections as well as a secondary safety measure, such as traceability logs or preventative plans. The Netherlands received three points, as they conduct random inspections and require businesses to keep a traceability log, meaning food products can be traced back to the point of contamination in the case of an outbreak. The United States received one point, as they conduct planned inspections and do not have a secondary control measure, such as traceability logs or preventative plans in place. Japan received one point, as their inspection procedure for locally produced foods is unclear, although inspections for imported goods are stringent. Italy, France, and Mexico were all awarded N/A due to a language barrier.

1.1.3 Transparency and Communication

Governing bodies were evaluated on how clearly and effectively they communicate with consumers regarding potential contaminations, outbreaks, and changes to approved ingredients. Most countries had information available on their website in two languages and websites contained a search feature. A variety of languages helps individuals from different backgrounds access information, while search bars and site maps allow users to find their information more easily. Countries which met both requirements received two points. Countries with only one available language received one point, as users who do not speak that language would not be able to access any information. If countries had more than two languages available as well as a public feedback period regarding decisions, they were awarded an additional point.

Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, and Japan all received two points for having two languages and a search function available on their websites. The Netherlands received two points because, while their site is accessible in four different languages, they do not have a public feedback period regarding decisions. Mexico, Italy, France, and Australia all received one point as their websites were only available in one language. The United States received three points, as their site is accessible in 16 different languages, features a search bar, site map, and text size adjustment. The United States has a public feedback period.

1.2 ENVIRONMENTAL RESTRICTIONS

Environmental restrictions data was based on waste management, including wastewater and hazardous waste, laws, and packaging restrictions, as well as the existence of environmental risk assessments and environmental policies that companies must adhere to when developing new products.

	1.2.1	1.2.2	Section 1.2
Country	Waste Management (/3)	EPA/ERA (/3)	Total (/6)
Canada	2	2	4
United States	2	2	4
Mexico	N/A	N/A	N/A
United Kingdom	3	2	5
Italy	N/A	N/A	N/A
Germany	3	2	5
France	1	2	3
Netherlands	2	1	3
Japan	1	2	3
Australia	2	2	4

1.2.1 Waste Management

Countries were assessed on waste management protocols, including the handling of hazardous waste, wastewater treatment, and policies aimed at reducing or eliminating product packaging. Most countries have implemented comprehensive waste management policies that are publicly available and can be found on government websites, often through the environmental ministry or similar governing body. Most waste management laws required businesses to properly dispose of waste through a registered waste management company; this is also applicable to hazardous waste. Laws and regulations may vary based on the type of waste generated by a business, but most countries had procedures for the various types of waste created. Canada, the United States, the Netherlands, and Australia all had publicly available and comprehensive waste management laws and policies available online and followed standard protocol; therefore, these countries scored two points. Countries were awarded an additional point if they had laws or regulations that were aimed at reducing or eliminating packaging or had a larger number of strict waste management protocols.

As consumers increasingly care about their environmental footprint and the ecological impact of the products they purchase, countries that create restrictions regarding packaging may help companies meet this desire of consumers. The United Kingdom has regulations that require businesses that handle a certain amount of packaging to be registered and follow specific packaging guidelines, the outcome being to protect both the product and the environment. Germany has also implemented a packaging regulation in which packaging materials are divided into different categories, each with different regulations. Germany's aim is to create a closed substance and waste cycle, and packaging laws can be found under the 2012 Circular Economy Act (Germany, 2018). Both Germany and the United Kingdom have been awarded three points due to their additional measures.

France has implemented significant regulations to reduce food waste; however, no legislation appears available on government websites pertaining to waste management or packaging. Japan has waste protocols, but the details of the legislation were vague without information specific to businesses or industrial waste. Therefore, both France and Japan were awarded one point, as their waste management protocols could not be confirmed to align with the standard. Italy was given an N/A, as the departmental website is available in Italian only.

1.2.2 Environmental Risk Assessments and Environmental Protection Acts

Most countries require businesses and industries to complete an Environmental Risk Assessment (ERA) when developing new products or organisms. ERAs exist to minimize potential environmental damage as well as to control any potential dangers to the environment. Many countries have an Environmental Protection Act (EPA) or similar act that outlines the actions companies must take to protect the natural environment. If countries require an ERA and have an EPA or similar protection act, they were awarded two points as this is the standard. These countries are Canada, the United States, the United Kingdom, Germany, France, Japan, and Australia. The Netherlands was awarded one point, as no information could be found pertaining to ERAs or similar procedures. Italy was given an N/A as the information was only available in Italian.

RECOMMENDATIONS: REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

A recurrent issue expressed by experts and leaders of Canada's food industry is the regulatory burden that impacts the cost of doing business. Alternately, Canada can move towards a streamlining of regulations across the food industry spectrum to address bottlenecks and onerous rules in everything from food safety, to inter-provincial trade, to carbon taxes, waste, packaging, ingredients, inspection, and so forth. This will likely require a collaboration across various levels of government, different sections of the value chain, the private sector, and industry trade associations.

In the relationship between government regulation and food industry, a particularly important aspect to address is the needs and circumstances of small and medium-size enterprises. SMEs face greater challenges in compliance with regulations, whether it is the costs involved, the data required to manage, and the training involved. Programs, and support measures to address regulatory compliance, and ease business operability will make innovation, and getting more products to market by SMEs that much better.

In Canada, certain sub-sectors of the food industry have and maintain a competitive advantage within a broader global marketplace. Namely, Canadian processed meat and poultry, processed seafoods, and grains and oilseeds have traditionally been prominent. However, the ability to translate raw ingredients into more value-added, higher priced products will require regulatory innovation. This includes addressing the retail environment in Canada domestically (5 retailers control 80% of Canada's retail sales), interprovincial trade, transportation infrastructure, and export regulations to markets. Canadian leading food sub-sectors will need to be especially attuned to changing compliance rules and regulations, and also meet the demands of governments and consumers in our target markets (in 2019, China surpassed the USA as the world's largest beef imported, including in prepared and preserved beef) (FIC, 2020).

2. BUSINESS COMPETITIVENESS

2.1 BUSINESS COMPETITIVENESS

The business competitiveness category focused on a sampling of economic indicators to provide a score out of nine points. A country's trade balance for food items (the difference between exports and imports), and their CPI measure for food were each worth 3 points, accounting for 6 of the total 9 points. Then, three economic indicators were measured together to account for the final 3 points and provide a partial picture of each country's economy regarding interest rates, exchange rates and labour productivity.

			2.1.3 Ec	cators (/3)	Section	
	2.1.1	2.1.2	2.1.3	2.1.4	2.1.5	2.1
Country	Trade Balance Food Exports- Imports (/3)	CPI Food (/3)	Long-term Interest Rates	Exchange Rates	Labour Productivity	Total (/9)
Canada	3	2		2	I	7
United States	1	2		1		4
Mexico	3	1		3		7
United Kingdom	1	3		3		7
Italy	2	0*		1		3
Germany	1	2		3		6
France	3	2		3		8
Netherlands	3	3		3		9
Japan	1	0*		3		4
Australia	3	3		1		7

*No data available

2.1.1 Trade Balance: Food Items (Exports-Imports)

Countries were assessed on the assumption that on average it is preferable to be a net exporter, and in terms of food innovation, to have a larger proportion of total imports and exports attributed to food items. Where countries have higher imports and exports of food, they might have better existing infrastructure for innovators new to the industry to leverage. For countries with a trade balance of effectively zero, they were awarded two points (Italy). Canada, Mexico, France, the Netherlands, and Australia all had positive net exports, and were therefore awarded one point. The US, the United Kingdom, Germany, and Japan all had negative net exports and therefore were awarded one point.

2.1.2 CPI Food Prices

The changes year over year for food price inflation were calculated for each country for four periods. In each period, an average food price inflation was calculated across all countries, to which each country was compared. The averages were 1% inflation in 2015-16, 2% in 2016-2017, 2017-18 and 2018-19. For both Canada and Germany, they maintained their two points, as they were on average for two periods, and then below average and above average each for one period. The US also maintained their 2 points as inflation was above average for one period and below average for two periods, but they were missing a data point so it is unclear whether they would have been mostly below average. Both Australia and the Netherlands had average inflation for two periods, and lower than average inflation for two periods so they received a score of three. The United Kingdom also received a score of three as in general, their inflation was below average. Italy and Japan both received a zero, as no data was available.

2.1.3 Economic Indicators

The three economic indicators, which are not specific to food, were grouped together to provide important context, but also to ensure that they did not outweigh other food-focused variables in the model. The three variables contributing to this measure are interest rates, exchange rates, and labour productivity.

The same methodology was followed for both interest rates and labour productivity. The median, minimum, and maximum value for each individual country's interest rates were calculated, then interest rates were averaged for each year from 2015-2019 across all 10 countries. All countries' medians, minimums and maximums were averaged to account for any outlying values, which may have skewed the mean. Each country's rate was compared to the average. Higher than average interest rates were scored lower as this means borrowing money is costlier for innovators. A higher than average rate of productivity was determined to be good for innovators because it indicated more productivity.

Where countries were approximately half of the time above the average and half of the time below for interest rates and productivity, they were given a score of two (Canada). Where countries performed more often better than the average rates, they received a score of three (the United Kingdom, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and Japan). Where countries performed more often below the average than above it, they received a score of one (the United States, Mexico, Italy, and Australia). Exchange rates were considered as a secondary variable to interest rates and productivity due to the lack of time series data. This consideration, however, did not change countries' scores.

2.2 CAPITAL AND CREDIT AVAILABILITY

To assess capital and credit availability, government grants and loans (worth a maximum of three points), and foreign direct investment per capita (also worth a maximum of three points) were considered. The final score was out of six.

	2.2.1	2.2.2	Section 2.2
Country	Government Grants + Loans (/3)	Foreign Direct Investment Per Capita (/3)	Total (/6)
Canada	2	2	4
United States	3	2	5
Mexico	N/A	1	1
United Kingdom	2	2	4
Italy	1	1	2
Germany	2	1	3
France	1	1	2
Netherlands	0*	3	3
Japan	1	1	2
Australia	3	1	4

* Limited data available

2.2.1 Government Grants and Loans

Government grants and loans were assessed on four criteria: (1) the number of programs researchers found; (2) the diversity in programs, i.e. whether they focus only on one sector or many; (3) the structure of the programs; and, (4) accessibility of application information for programs. On average, there were three to four programs for each sector (criteria 1), usually addressing agriculture, fisheries, and agri-food sectors (criteria 2), in the form of government grants (criteria 3). Generally, there was limited information on how to apply for funding (criteria 4). Countries were compared to this average.

Canada, the United Kingdom, and Germany were assessed to be on average and so they each maintained their two points. France, Italy, and Japan were also awarded one point. These countries all had very vague or almost no information on funding and how to apply for it. In the case of European countries, it appears that the EU might be responsible for significant funding; however, that still must be made clear through their own websites. The Netherlands lacked data on the variety of programs and structure as it was unclear whether they even offered funding. Mexico received a score of N/A as no data could be found due to language issues.

The US and Australia were each awarded three points. The US provided numerous and diverse programs, with a noticeably clear application process through a database. Similarly, Australia provided remarkably diverse funding programs (for artisanal products, Indigenous products or to commercialize existing products), and their structure was unique, as they offered the option of government-matched funding. From the perspective of innovators, this funding is important, and accessibility is crucial to their ability to leverage it.

2.2.2 Foreign Direct Investment

The OECD reports the amount of foreign direct investment (FDI) for each country in USD. Population data was collected from the OECD for the year 2018, so FDI per capita was calculated to compare across countries and account for the different sizes of countries and amounts of FDI. An average FDI per capita was calculated across all countries (\$1123 USD per person). As the data has a large range (\$30/person-\$6,629/person) and therefore a skewed average, a country within +/- 30 percent of the average maintained their two points. For countries more than 30 percent above the average, they gained a point and countries more than 30 percent below the average lost a point. Though government policies impact the benefits or costs of FDI, a higher FDI is broadly understood to be beneficial for economic development, increasing links between countries and therefore helping to transfer knowledge, technology and other non-monetary benefits (OECD, 2002).

Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom all had FDI per capita within 30 percent of the average, so they received two points each. Mexico, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, and Australia all had FDI per capita either below or well below the 30 percent threshold and therefore lost a point, receiving one point each. The Netherlands was the only country with significant FDI per capita well above average (\$6629) and was thus awarded three points.

2.3 DISTRIBUTION NETWORKS

To examine distribution networks, researchers considered large-scale grocery competitors, private labels, and shipping infrastructure. Each variable was worth a maximum of three points, bringing the pillar total to nine points.

	2.3.1	2.3.2	2.3.3	Section 2.3
Country	Large-scale Competitors (/3)	Private Labels (/3)	Shipping Capacity (/3)	Total (/9)
Canada	1	1	1	3
United States	3	2	2	7
Mexico	3	1*	1	4
United Kingdom	2	2	3	7
Italy	3	3	1	7
Germany	2	3	3	8
France	1	2	0**	3
Netherlands	1	3	0**	4
Japan	N/A	N/A	3	3
Australia	1	2	1	4

*Language barriers

**No data available

2.3.1 Large-scale competitors

To assess large-scale competitors, the number of large-scale competitors in each country and the cumulative market share held by those competitors were considered. Only those competitors holding a market share of 5 percent or more were included. The cumulative market share across the number of competitors was averaged to provide a rough average of the market share that large-scale competitors hold in a country. Finally, the same-store sales were averaged across all stores in a country. Same-store sales measures the growth in sales, year over year, across the existing number of stores; the measure eliminates the growth effects from opening new stores or closing existing stores.

The average market share held by large competitors across all ten countries was 87 percent of the market, with approximately 17 percent held by each large competitor. Where large competitors in a country held a higher cumulative market share relative to the average, this was considered to contribute negatively to innovation, as it reduces competition and can prevent entry of new competitors (innovators). Similarly, where the large-scale competitors held larger market shares, this was also viewed negatively, as it provides additional market control and can create barriers for innovators. For cumulative market share, there was a significant range (45-94 percent), which would affect the average. To account for this, where a country's cumulative market share was within +/- 10 percent of the average, they were considered average. For same-store sales, a higher rate relative to the average was viewed positively. The average for same-store sales was calculated as 2.8 percent.

Germany maintained their score of two: their cumulative market share was on average, their percentage held by each competitor was higher than the average, but their same-store sales rate was also higher. The United Kingdom also maintained their score of two, but for the opposite reason: their large-scale competitors held on average lower market shares, but their same-store sales ratio was below average.

Canada, France, the Netherlands, and Australia were each awarded one point. All four countries were mostly below average for all considerations. In the case of the Netherlands, they were also lacking data on same-store sales. Japan was awarded N/A due to limited data caused by language barriers.

The US, Mexico, and Italy were awarded three points each. All three countries were characterized by a lower cumulative market share held by their large-scale competitors, lower average market shares per individual large-scale competitor, and higher than average same-store sales. In the case of Italy and Mexico, many grocers did not report same-store sales, but instead sales growth with minimal changes in the number of stores. As such, however, their same-store sales are likely overestimated.

2.3.2 Private Label

The following criteria were considered: (1) the approximate number of private label product lines in each country across all large-scale competitors; (2) the purpose of the private label (discount, value added or innovation); and, (3) the range in private label offering. On average, countries had 18 different private labels (criteria 1), the general purpose was discount or value-added to existing products (criteria 2), and the range was on average from discount to value added (criteria 3). As this index is concerned with innovation, where a country's private labels focused on innovation rather than simply discount or value added, the country was awarded an additional point. Countries whose major focus across competitors was discount on existing products lost a point.

The United States, the United Kingdom, France, and Australia were all awarded two points. The four countries all had either an on-average or slightly below-average number of private label lines. The major focus of private labels in these countries appeared to be value-added to existing products, but also there was a range from discount to value-added.

Canada had on average fewer private labels, whose purpose was mostly discount with some value-added to existing products, and with a range on average of discount to value added. As such, Canada was awarded one point. Mexico was similarly focused on discount of existing products, but there was limited data. From what data was available, Mexico was awarded one point. Japan had limited data due to language barriers and could not be assessed, so they received N/A.

Germany, the Netherlands, and Italy all appear to use their private labels as a source of innovation. These countries have a large range of products. The purpose of products in Italy's Coop and Selex stores, for example, extends to different values, such as environmental sustainability, fair trade, and artisanal products to target unique customer segments.

2.3.3 Shipping Capacity

Data was collected on the number of ports and airports, and the number of kilometers of railway track in each country. A ratio was created for each category, comparing shipping capacity to the number of square kilometres in a country. For example, the ratio of ports per square kilometer was calculated for each country. In many cases countries did not share their data, and data was collected from secondary sources. Further, while these ratios provide some context, they are unable to account for how populations are dispersed across a country and how shipping accounts for this. For example, Canada has a large land mass with much of the population spread along its southern border with the US. An average was calculated for each measure and each ratio, to which each country was compared. Where most of the country's measures fell below the average, they were awarded one point. Where a country was partially above average and partially below average, they received two points. Where a country performed generally above average, they received three points. Where no data was available, zero points were assigned.

Canada, Mexico, Italy, and Australia all generally had less infrastructure than the average, so they were each awarded one point. Australia was also missing data for ports but had data for airports and rail. Similarly, Italy was missing data for airports, but had data for ports and rail. France and the Netherlands were each assigned zero points, as they had only rail data available.

The United Kingdom, Germany and Japan were each awarded three points. The United Kingdom had above-average infrastructure for all measures, except the country had fewer kilometers of railway track; however, the ratio of railway track per square kilometer was above average. Japan and Germany both displayed an identical outcome to the United Kingdom.

RECOMMENDATIONS: BUSINESS COMPETITIVENESS

For Canada to becoming a leading food innovation nation, we need reduce the risks associated with starting a food company or growing a company beyond its current size. Investors, whether domestic or international, may be averse to placing money behind the growth of a small food processor. The stated risks can be manifold, from regulations, to the cost of ingredients, to shipping costs, risks of take-over, etc. Each of these risks needs to be addressed in forums and focused discussions between industry leaders, the investment community, banks, and financial institutions. Initiatives such as District Ventures in Calgary, the Protein Industries Canada supercluster, and the Ocean Industries supercluster in Atlantic Canada are good examples of leading collaborations which can reduce the risk of growth and further scale in the Canadian food sector to reach competitive international standards.

Domestically in Canada the reality of a highly concentrated retail environment, with conditions and restrictions and costs associated with getting a listing, have implications for the initial growth trajectory of a company from small to medium to large. Industry trade associations, market experts, and companies could explore alternate routes to consumers, such as the growth of e-commerce, direct-to-consumer, and emerging market alternatives.

What will likely remain the most important factor towards the food innovation leadership of Canada, is increasing the capacity of Canadian food companies to develop, manufacture and delivered value-added food products that are in demand, domestically, and internationally. This endeavour has many elements to it. Federal government programs, such as the Scientific Research and Experimental Development program, are positive examples where public funding can direct capacity building, and incentives for private sector innovation. More research and application is required into understanding when Canadian companies are most likely to invest in new equipment, machinery and updates to their plants, and when or why, this does not happen. Especially for SMEs, plant modernization is critically important. Many Canadian food processors are continually at risk of take-overs by foreign firms. While this is not always a bad thing, it is also the ability of a Canadian plant to operate at international standards of efficiency, excellence and quality that can reduce the risk of acquisitions, takeovers, or obsolescence. How quickly can Canadian processors meet changing consumer and retail demands? Are supply chains adept at understanding what modifications they need to make to their operations, to their supply chains, to their distribution networks, and shipping infrastructure? Very often the demand signals from consumers, and in turn from retailers or wholesalers, is that some SKUs are dropped, and new opportunities emerge. The capacity to meet that new demand is the emerging currency of a new food industry. There also remains a critically important conversation about the balance between automation, digitization, and the use of advanced technologies for today's food industry. This has implications for jobs, job demand, skills, training, and the attractiveness of the industry to both mid-career, and recent graduates. How well paid will these jobs be, and can they compete with other industries. How effective are training and re-training programs? A study by the Analysis Group (2018) noted that between 2013 and 2017, that full time employment decreased by 7.3% across the Canadian food industry, which would equate to over 20,000 job losses. Company respondents to the survey noted labour relocation or outsourcing outside of Canada as the rationale. Additionally, in a study by CME (2020), FHCP stated that there are 'almost 28,000 job vacancies in food manufacturing in 2020, with one in ten jobs remaining unfilled. The result being that manufacturers need to re-think their operations and how to run their business, and governments how to invest in a combination of automation and job (re)training.

3. MARKET READINESS

3.1 TRAINING AND EDUCATION

Training and Education examined the level of education or training that individuals require to enter the food and beverage, agri-food, or food science industries, as well as retraining initiatives and average earnings by sector in comparison to the national average.

Country	3.1.1 Student Incentives (/3)	3.1.2 Education Trends (/3)	3.1.3 Employment Trends (/3)	3.1.4 Job Retraining (/3)	Section 3.1 Total (/12)
Canada	2	3	2	3	10
United States	2	3	3	2	10
Мехісо	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
United Kingdom	1	2	1	3	7
Italy	0	2	1**	1	3
Germany	3	1*	3	1	7
France	1	1*	1**	1	2
Netherlands	1	1*	1**	1	2
Japan	1	1*	1**	2	3
Australia	3	1*	1**	2	5

*no data on graduate employment rates

**insufficient data or available data not applicable

3.1.1 Student Incentives

The category on student incentives examined the prevalence of bursaries, scholarships, grants, loans, and other financial or social supports that exist to encourage students to pursue postsecondary education. Rather than assigning values based on an average, values were awarded based on the number of supports countries had in place to encourage students to pursue postsecondary education, specifically in relation to providing support for racialized or otherwise marginalized individuals. All information was found through government websites on department of education pages, or similar offices. Most countries offer federal grants and loans to all students. Countries that only offer grants and loans and have no specific incentives to attract diverse audiences were awarded one point. These countries include the United Kingdom, France, the Netherlands, and Japan. Countries that offered federal grants and loans as well as additional incentives to individuals from lower socio-economic backgrounds, Indigenous students, or students from visible minorities were awarded two points. These countries are Canada, the United States, and Australia. In Germany, post-secondary school is often state subsidized, and most students can attend post-secondary education for free. Most graduate level programs have tuition fees; however, these are much lower in comparison to other countries. Students who do need to pay for tuition can apply for a zero-interest government loan as well as federally funded scholarships. As Germany offers largely free post-secondary education, they have been awarded three points, considering that lack of financial resources is often a barrier to students interested in pursuing post-secondary education (Long, 2014; Byrne & McCoy, 2011). Italy has been awarded

a zero, as the website for the department of education appears not to exist and no subsequent authoritative source could be found.

3.1.2 Education Trends

This category examined the level of education required to work in the field of food production, food manufacturing, and agriculture as well as graduate employment rates.

In Canada, graduates working in food production saw an 85-91% employment rate depending on level of education, with the lowest level of employment being those who had received a master's degree. Due to the high employment rates and the fact that the most employable individuals are those with either a college diploma or bachelor's degree, Canada earned three points. In the United States, most individuals working in food sciences and production have a bachelor's degree, while food science technicians often have a high school diploma or some post-secondary education but no degree. Employment rates are high and considering that individuals can enter the industry with various levels of education and training, the United States earned three points.

In the United Kingdom, food science graduates see a 71% employment rate, which is significantly lower than that in both Canada and the United States, earning the United Kingdom two points in this category. In Italy, 60% of students find work after completion of their degree while 15.6% of students were working before or during their degree bringing the total number of graduates working to 75.6%. This employment rate is like that of the United Kingdom; therefore, Italy earned two points in this category.

Germany, France, the Netherlands, Japan, and Australia do not appear to collect data on graduate employment rates and have therefore earned a score of one point in this section. No data could be accessed for Mexico due to language barriers and it therefore received a weighting of N/A.

3.1.3 Employment Trends

This category examined the expected annual income in the agri-food and food and beverage industry in relation to the national average yearly income across all industries (USD). A comparison of average annual incomes for OECD countries can be found on the OECD website (OECD, 2018).

Canada saw annual earnings ranging from \$28,747 to \$53,992 USD per year in the fields of agriculture, food production, and food science, with most employees earning an average of \$39,119 USD per year. While employment rates are high, the average overall annual wage is \$48,849 USD per year, making the wages earned by Canadians in food production much lower than the overall average annual income. Therefore, Canada received two points.

Individuals working in food sciences in the United States earn an average wage of \$65,300 USD per year while food science technicians have an average income of \$40,860 per year. The average annual income in the United States is \$63,093, making the average wage for those in food production and food science higher than the national average. Furthermore, individuals have the potential to earn more money than Canadians working in food sciences or food production with lower educational requirements. The United States has an 8.3% unemployment rate in the agricultural sector. Because of the low unemployment rate, high earnings, and low educational requirements, the United States earned three points in this category.

The national average yearly income in the United Kingdom is \$44,770 USD, while the average income for those working in food and beverage production is \$693 per week or roughly \$36,036 USD per year based on 52 work weeks. The average income for those working in agriculture is \$531 per week or roughly \$27,612 USD per year, making the earnings of both fields of employment

within the food industry below the national average of yearly earnings. Due to the lower employment rates and low income, the United Kingdom was awarded one point for employment rates and education trends.

In Germany, the average yearly income is \$49,813 USD. The average yearly income for individuals in technical and scientific fields is \$73,881 USD and \$61,880 USD for those in manufacturing, putting the yearly earnings of individuals in those industries far over the national average. Overall, Germany has a 75.9% employment rate and a 3.4% unemployment rate. Germany has many apprenticeship programs and, as previously stated, offers free post-secondary education; however, the education level of employees is not stated in statistics. Information regarding the level of education required to work in these fields is not available. Therefore, Germany was awarded 2 points, as they have high employment rates and high wages, but educational requirements are not specified.

France was awarded one point, as average yearly income by sector could not be found and the ILO employment rate is 50.9%. Italy was also given one point, as the average yearly income is \$37,752 USD overall, although individuals in technical and scientific professions make roughly \$23,699 USD per year and those in manufacturing make \$27,804 USD per year. Employment and unemployment rates for Italy are not publicly available. The Netherlands was given one point because, although they have an exceptionally low overall unemployment rate of 3%, no data regarding wages was available. Japan was also awarded one point, as the employment rate is 60% for individuals aged 15 and over, and data surrounding wages was not available. Australia received one point, as employment rates are recorded in numbers of people instead of percentages, making the data unusable for these purposes, and the average yearly income is \$53,349 USD, although individuals in manufacturing make roughly \$43,923 USD per year and those in technical and scientific professions make roughly \$56,140 USD per year.

3.1.4 Job Retraining Strategies and Professional Development

This category examined federal incentives and programs available to individuals looking to gain new skills or build upon existing skills to advance their careers within their current industry, or to change career paths. Most countries offer job retraining targeted toward at least two of the following groups of individuals: Indigenous people, youth, seniors, and veterans. Therefore, countries which offer job training to at least two of these groups received two points. Countries that offered programs to more groups of people or had broader retraining strategies received three points. Countries that only offered incentives toward one group or had no specific training programs for any group of people, received one point. The United States, Australia, and Japan all received two points. Canada received three, because it offers several training programs aimed at veterans, youth, and Indigenous people. The United Kingdom received three points because of its recently implemented national retraining scheme, which provides job training to low-income individuals over the age of 24 without a degree, as well as a government graduate scheme. Italy, Germany, France, and the Netherlands all received one point as their retraining programs were not clear and only information regarding apprenticeships could be found.

3.2 DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

Diversity within a workplace positively affects innovation and contributes to overall employee satisfaction and retention (Ahmed, Atif, Hossain, & Mia, 2019; Brimhall & Mor Barak, 2018; Sabharwal, 2014; Díaz-García, González-Moreno, & Sáez-Martínez, 2013). By offering federally supported training programs, employers can earn certificates and gain access to resources to support employees from different backgrounds. Employees from diverse backgrounds may have more incentive to seek employment at businesses which openly support minorities and diversity.

	3.2.1	3.2.2	Section 3.2
Country	Equitable Training Programs and Incentives (/3)	Pay Gap (/3)	Total (/6)
Canada	3	1	4
United States	3	2	5
Mexico	N/A	0**	0
United Kingdom	2	3	5
Italy	1	3	4
Germany	1	1	2
France	1	0*	1
Netherlands	2	0**	2
Japan	3	0**	3
Australia	2	0**	2

*France does not collect gender-based data

**Wage and earnings data not available

3.2.1 Incentives and Equitable Training Programs

The category of incentives for minorities examined the prevalence of financial support available to individuals from minority groups to pursue education, continue education or open businesses. This category also examined diversity and inclusion statements on government websites and any initiatives taken to encourage diverse workplaces. The equitable training programs category examined the prevalence of federally funded diversity training programs that businesses partake in. On average, most countries had a diversity statement or anti-discrimination legislation. Australia, the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands all have diversity statements and anti-discrimination legislation clearly found on their websites, thus these countries all earned two points. Canada, the United States, and Japan all have anti-discrimination legislation, diversity statements, as well as at least two federal initiatives aimed at diversifying the workforce, and therefore earned an additional point. No diversity statements or legislation could be found for Germany, Italy, or France; therefore, these countries received one point. The information available in English for both France and Italy was limited.

3.2.2 Pay Gap

This category examined pay discrepancies between men and women and presented them as a percentage. The percentages were then averaged, and countries were assigned points based on their relation to the average. Countries with a smaller pay gap ranked higher, and those with a larger pay gap ranked lower. The average pay discrepancy between males and females is 18.7%. Countries that fell between 15% and below 20% pay discrepancy were awarded two points. The United States was given two points, with a 16.9% pay gap on average. Germany has a pay gap of 20%, Canada a gap of 29.8%, and Australia a pay gap ranging from 34% in technical and scientific fields to 39% in manufacturing; each of these countries earned one point. The United Kingdom has a gap ranging from 6.5% in agriculture to 12.1% in food manufacturing, and Italy has a wage discrepancy of 7.1% for scientific and technological fields and 13.9% for manufacturing; both of these countries earned three points, due to their relatively small wage gaps. France does not record data based on gender, and wage data for Mexico, the Netherlands, and Japan was unavailable, earning these four countries a zero.

RECOMMENDATIONS: MARKET READINESS

One of the most pressing aspects recommended to rise Canada's ranking in food innovation is the need for training and re-training an adaptive workforce in relation to continually emerging technologies and automation. We need people to create the culture, quality and character of a Canadian food industry that has the respect, and demand of the world, however, the effective utilization of technologies that improve processes, data management, operations, distribution and logistics, and communication are more important than ever. A combination of training and skills development by companies themselves, along with the offerings at colleges, universities and training centres needs to be attuned and adaptive to what is required next. Each sub-sector will look slightly different, whether that is processed meats and poultry, processed seafood, vegetables, fruits, grains and oilseeds, pulses, or pet foods. Each sub-sector will have its own unique needs in terms of new skills, and process pressures.

To be market ready and innovative, Canadian food processors can also apply foresight planning to their value-chains. As the pandemic has made clearly evident, supply chains can be disrupted, inventories, and ingredients can be delayed. Operations leaders need end-toend vision, and need to collaborate more effectively and responsively. With the right tools and applications, food processors can prepare high-quality demand forecasts, better understand demand uncertainty, model risks in their supply chains, plan for the potential of disruptions, and have back-up plans with internal teams, customers and suppliers (Vanguard, 2020).

Canada can also strengthen its market readiness for value-added products, for domestic and global markets. In the case of SMEs, which form most food processing operations in Canada, collaborations between smaller brands, and contract manufacturers, or co-product development can be creative methods by which to reach scale. An orientation towards valueadded processing will also further attract the higher paid jobs and expertise to the industry at-large.

4. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

4.1 PROPRIETARY PROTECTION

This category focused on patent application procedures (a maximum of three points), and patent protection and enforcement monitoring (a maximum of three points). The pillar generates a score out of six.

	4.1.1	4.1.2	Section 4.1
Country	Patent Procedures (/3)	Patent Protection (/3)	Total (/6)
Canada	2	1	3
United States	3	2	5
Mexico	2	2	4
United Kingdom	2	3	5
Italy	2	2	4
Germany	2	2	4
France	1	1	2
Netherlands	2	1	3
Japan	1	3	4
Australia	2	2	4

4.1.1 Patent Procedures

This category examined the approximate length of the patent application process, whether fee schedules differed by an applicant organization's size, the lifetime of the patent, and any additional fees or barriers to patent applications. The baseline across all ten countries showed that on average, patent applications take 36 months, there is no differentiation in fees, and the patent lasts 20 years. Countries were compared to this baseline to determine whether in general they outperformed the average (three points), performed to the average (two points) or performed below average (one point).

Canada, Mexico, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and Italy all received two points. While Canada creates a lower fee schedule for smaller entities, the patent application process and lifetime were in line with the average, with no additional barriers or fees. The United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands, and Italy all performed to the average on all criteria.

Japan, Australia, and France each received one point. While Japan performed to the average for almost all criteria, they have additional translation fees for patent applications in a foreign language (the fourth criteria). This requirement creates a barrier to patent applications in the country and places a cost on innovators, so Japan received only one point. Australia performed to the average for fee schedules and patent lifetime with no additional barriers, but it was unclear from government websites how long the application process is. If innovators are going to engage in a patent process, it is important they know how long the process is, so they can budget time and resources appropriately. France created lower fees for non-profit organizations focused on research or teaching, but they also required patent applications to be submitted in French. The length of the French patent process was unclear, so the country received one point.

4.1.2 Patent Protection, Enforcement and Monitoring

This section considered the available schemes for patent protection, the monitoring and enforcement mechanisms that were in place, the recourse available if a patent was breached, penalties for a breach, and the limitation periods on legal action. Across all ten countries, federal legislation was in place to protect patents, with the responsibility on the patent owner or a licensee to bring forth legal action. Where countries differed was in how they addressed patent breaches. In most countries, regular courts as opposed to specialised patent courts, hear patent breach actions. Penalties in most countries constitute injunctions, damages, or various orders. The average limitation period is five years in most countries. Countries were compared to this average.

The US, Mexico, Germany, Italy, and Australia were all awarded two points. The US performed to average, except for a limitation period one year above average on legal actions for patent breaches. Mexico has specialized courts, but they have a noticeably short limitation period of two years on legal action, so their points remained unchanged. A significantly reduced limitation period places pressure on patent owners to assess and identify a breach, then accumulate the necessary resources to access the justice system in a shorter period to enforce their patent rights. Italy performed to average, as did Australia. Germany, on the other hand, has specialized patent courts, and administrative boards to hear patent breach cases, which can reduce costs. The country, however, includes imprisonment as a punishment when a patent has been breached. Imprisonment appears disproportionate to the crime of patent infringement across countries in this study. Prison can be very stigmatizing for individuals who have committed a crime that is generally not harshly penalized, and harsh penalities incentivize non-disclosure.

Canada, the Netherlands, and France each received one point. All three countries performed to average, except for their penalties: all three countries include imprisonment for breach of patent. As such, the countries were deducted a point due to the negative repercussions of severe punishment, outlined above.

4.2 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development were considered in three contexts, each worth three points: federal budgets, national data strategies, and data privacy and access. The category generates a score out of nine points.

	4.2.1	4.2.2	4.2.3	Section 4.2
Country	Federal Budgets	National Data Strategies	Data Privacy & Access	Total (/9)
Canada	2	3	2	7
United States	3	3	0**	6
Mexico	N/A*	1	1	2
United Kingdom	3	1	3	7
Italy	N/A*	0*	2	2
Germany	N/A*	0	2	2
France	N/A*	1	2	3
Netherlands	2	3	2	7
Japan	1	1	2	4
Australia	3	3	1	7

*Language barrier

**No data available

4.2.1 Federal Budget

This section included the funding programs available for food innovation in the most recent federal budget, the total budgeted expenditure on these programs, the percentage of total government budget expenditures, and how easily accessible information on budgetary measures were. Data under this variable was largely inaccessible, so an average could not be defined. The total expenditure in each country's budget for food research and innovation was recorded, then used to calculate that value as a percentage of total budget expenditure; however, complete data from government budgets could be found only for Canada, the United States, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, and Australia. In many cases the budgets were not available (Mexico, France, Germany, Italy) or contained very vague information (Japan). To award points, if it was possible for an innovator to simply find out whether there was new funding for food innovation research or projects, the country received two points. An additional point was awarded if it would be possible for an innovator to determine which specific initiatives were being awarded funding. If it was not entirely clear that the funding was for food research or innovation projects, the country received one point. Where there was no data for the country, due to language issues, they received an N/A.

Canada and the Netherlands each received two points. Canada had limited new food innovation and research funding programs, and it was moderately difficult to find the information. The Netherlands had broad categories of funding, but it was difficult to navigate their budgetary information. In both cases, an innovator could be aware that there was food research funding available.

Japan received one point, as there was some information available, but it was unclear and unspecific. France, Mexico, Germany, and Italy each received N/A, as there was no data available or none could be found, perhaps due to a language barrier.

Finally, the United States, the United Kingdom, and Australia were each awarded three points. In all three cases, it was clear where the funding was going, and the documents containing information were easily accessible.

4.2.2 National Data Strategy

To examine national data strategies, the following criteria were considered: whether a complete data strategy existed; which years it covered; whether it applied to both private and public sectors; whether it contained concrete steps and/or a budget; and the strategy's accessibility. Across all ten countries, for those with data, there was some sort of data strategy – complete or not. On average, strategies were from 2016 or more recent, lacked concrete steps and lacked budgets; however, they were otherwise accessible. On average, strategies only applied to the public sector (covering only one sector). Countries were compared to this baseline.

No countries performed to the average, so no countries received two points. Mexico, the United Kingdom, France, and Japan all received one point. While Mexico's strategy applied to both the private and public sectors, it was incomplete, dated from 2013, had no concrete steps, no budget, and was difficult to find. The United Kingdom's data strategy was also incomplete, as it is currently being developed. The United Kingdom's strategy will apply to both sectors, and information about it was easily found, but at this time there are no concrete steps or budgets. France's strategy was difficult to find with no concrete steps or budget. Finally, Japan's strategy was difficult to find, is unclear which sector it applies to, and is from 2012-13. It is possible that the country is now using legislation instead of policy, but that move should be clarified. Data was not available for either Germany or Italy, so each country received zero points.

Canada, the United States, the Netherlands, and Australia were each awarded three points. While precise actions were not evident in Canada's strategy and there is no budget, it was easy to find, complete and recent, and applies to both sectors. The United States was one of the unique budgets to have both clear actionable steps and a budget, but it only applies to government. The Netherlands produced two separate strategies for the public and private sector in 2019 with budgets and clear actionable items that are easy to find. Australia has no budget, but the strategy was easy to locate, applies to both sectors with concrete steps, and covers 2015-2020.

4.2.3 Data Privacy and Restrictions

Laws pertaining to data privacy and use in countries were recorded. Laws were assessed by examining which level of government implements the scheme, who is responsible for oversight, the scope of both laws (public and/or private sector), and the penalties for breaches of data privacy. Most countries have a federal act, with government actors performing oversight activities, applying to both sectors, and with fines as a penalty.

Canada was awarded two points. Canada has separate laws for the public and private sectors, acknowledging the different contexts. The penalties for government breaches of privacy laws, however, appear to be only recommendations and consist in investigations by another government entity. It is unclear whether this penalty should be or needs to be higher.

The EU countries (the United Kingdom, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and Italy) all fall under the same EU regulation and oversight body. As such, this reduces costs for innovators who must only understand one data privacy and handling law for all EU countries. The penalties under the regulation differ for each country. The United Kingdom was awarded three points as they benefitted from the supranational EU scheme, and otherwise performed to average, with fines in the case of a breach. France was awarded two points, as penalties can include "any security measure necessary," which appears to be a vague and broad discretionary power. Germany was awarded two points because, while they benefit from the singular EU law, their penalty for breach of the law can be imprisonment, which is much harsher than the average penalty (fines) indicating it might be too severe. Finally, both the Netherlands and Italy were awarded two points because there was no information available on penalties. It is important that those handling data be clear on what they can and cannot do with the data, but also aware of the consequences of their actions.

Japan was awarded two points as they performed to average, but penalties were far more severe than the average penalty of fines. Penalties for a breach can include imprisonment or work terms, and imprisonment for government officials.

The United States was given zero points as states handle data privacy laws, so there was no federal data available. This scheme increases costs for innovators who must understand multiple different laws within a single country to innovate across state boarders.

Mexico and Australia were both given one point. Mexico only has one law, applying only to the private sector and there was no information on the penalties available if there is a breach. In Australia, there is a combination of federal and state legislation for data laws. The federal legislation applies only to the public sector and any organization making over \$3 million AUD annually. Like the United States, a myriad of state laws can increase costs for innovators within a single country.

RECOMMENDATIONS: INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

Canada can build on some of the momentum which has been infused into the agri-food industry in recent years with major studies, such as the federal Barton report, and the major investments into initiatives such as the Protein and Oceans superclusters. Food processors can also collaborate with leaders in advanced manufacturing, and Al, to build further capacity. Indeed, the example from the Netherlands is testament to how innovation has been built from cross-industry collaboration. The Netherlands has become a global leader in horticulture, greenhouses and exporting of agri-food products. Government initiatives, and infrastructure have been set up to increase productivity and remove obstacles to growth. There are well organized supply chains and transport infrastructure to road and sea. The Netherlands have also established a branded region, The Food Valley, where leading private, public and research centres work together on advancing all aspects of the food chain. In Canada, we have the ability to develop regional nodes of innovation, including those in Atlantic Canada, Quebec, Ontario, the Prairies and British Columbia.

CONCLUSION

Based on the scores for each pillar, the results were weighted not to penalize countries for which data was not available/accessible. Weighted results re-balance the data in order to more accurately reflect how countries are performing based on metrics we could find data for. It has thus been concluded that the United Kingdom ranked first, the United States second, Germany third, Australia fourth, Canada fifth, the Netherlands sixth, Japan seventh, Mexico eighth, France ninth, and Italy tenth.

Country	Sec. 1	Rank Pillar 1	Sec. 2	Rank Pillar 2	Sec. 3	Rank Pillar 3	Sec. 4	Rank Pillar 4	Total Score	Final Rank (weighted results)
	/15		Total /24		Total /21		Total /15		/75	
Canada	9	5	14	6	14	2	10	4	47	5
United States	9	5	16	3	15	1	11	2	51	2
Mexico	1	10	12	8	0	10	6	7	19	8
United Kingdom	11	1	18	1	12	3	12	1	53	1
Italy	3	9	13	7	7	6	5	10	28	10
Germany	11	1	17	2	9	4	6	7	43	3
France	6	8	16	3	3	9	10	4	35	9
Netherlands	10	3	12	8	4	8	6	7	32	6
Japan	9	5	9	10	6	7	8	6	32	7
Australia	10	3	15	5	8	5	11	2	44	4

Rankings for Pillar One (regulatory environment) are as follows: The United Kingdom and Germany placed first; the Netherlands and Australia second; Japan, Canada, and the United States third; France fourth; Italy fifth; and Mexico sixth. Rankings for Pillar Two (business competitiveness) are as follows: The United Kingdom placed first; Germany second; the United States and the Netherlands third; Australia fourth; Canada fifth; Mexico and France sixth; Italy seventh; and Japan eighth. Rankings for Pillar Three (Market Readiness) are as follows: The United States is first; Canada second; the United Kingdom third; Germany and Australia fourth; Italy and Japan fifth; the Netherlands sixth; France seventh; and Mexico eighth. Rankings for Pillar Four (intellectual property and research and development) are as follows: The United Kingdom is first; the United States and Australia second; Canada third; Japan fourth; Mexico, Italy, and Germany fifth; France sixth.

APPENDIX 1: INTERNATIONAL FOOD INNOVATION INDEX METRICS

PILLAR 1	PILLAR 2	PILLAR 3
Regulatory Environment (15)	Business Competitiveness (24)	Market Readiness (18)
1.1 Regulatory Environment (9)	2.1 Business Competitiveness (12)	3.1 Training and education (12)
1.1.1 Approval Periods	2.1.1 Trade Balance	3.1.1 Student Incentives
1.1.2 Food Safety Assurance	2.1.2 CPI	3.1.2 Education Trends
1.1.3 Transparency & Communication	2.1.3 Economic Indicators	3.1.3 Employment Trends
1.2 Environmental Restrictions (6)	2.2 Capital Credit and Credit Availability (6)	3.1.4 Job Retraining
1.2.1 Waste Management	2.2.1 Government Grants and Loans	3.2 Diversity and Inclusion (6)
1.2.2 EPA & ERA	2.2.2 Foreign Direct Investment per Capita	3.2.1 Incentives and Equitable Workplace Training
	2.3 Distribution Networks (9)	3.2.2 Pay Gap Analysis
	2.3.1 Large-Scale Competitors	
	2.3.2 Private Labels	
	2.3.3 Shipping Capacity	

PILLAR 4

Intellectual Property and Research & Development (15)

4.1 Proprietary protection (6)

4.1.1 Patent Procedures
4.2.2 Patent Protection
4.2 Research and Development (9)
4.2.1 Federal Budget

4.2.2 National Data Strategies

4.2.3 Privacy Laws

APPENDIX 2: SCORES BY PILLAR

PILLAR 1

Country	1.1.1	1.1.2	1.1.3	1.1 Total /9	1.2.1	1.2.2	1.2 Total /6	Pillar 1 /15
Canada	1	2	2	5	2	2	4	9
United States	1	1	3	5	2	2	4	9
Mexico	N/A	N/A	1	1	N/A	N/A		1
United Kingdom	2	2	2	6	3	2	5	11
Italy	2	N/A	1	3	N/A			3
Germany	2	2	2	6	3	2	5	11
France	2	N/A	1	3	1	2	3	6
Netherlands	2	3	2	7	2	1	3	10
Japan	3	1	2	6	1	2	3	9
Australia	3	2	1	6	2	2	4	10

PILLAR 2

Country	2.1.1	2.1.2	2.1.3	2.1 Total /9	2.2.1	2.2.2	2.2 Total /6	2.3.1	2.3.2	2.3.3	2.3 Total /9	Pillar 2 /24
Canada	3	2	2	7	2	2	4	1	1	1	3	14
United States	1	2	1	4	2	2	4	3	2	2	7	16
Mexico	3	1	3	7	N/A	N/A		3	1	1	5	13
United Kingdom	1	3	3	7	3	2	5	2	2	3	7	18
Italy	2	0*	1	3	N/A	1		3	3	1	7	12
Germany	1	2	3	6	3	2	5	2	3	3	8	17
France	3	2	3	8	1	2	3	1	2	0*	3	13
Netherlands	3	3	3	9	2	1	3	1	3	0*	4	16
Japan	1	0*	3	4	1	2	3	N/A	N/A	3	3	9
Australia	3	3	1	7	2	2	4	1	2	1	4	15

*no available data

PILLAR 3

Country	3.1.1	3.1.2	3.1.3	3.1.4	3.1 Total /12	3.2.1	3.2.2	3.2 Total /6	Pillar 3 /18
Canada	2	3	2	3	10	3	1	4	14
United States	2	3	3	2	10	3	2	5	15
Mexico	N/A	N/A	1**	N/A	1	N/A	0***	0	1
United Kingdom	1	2	1	3	7	2	3	5	12
Italy	0	2	1**	1	4	1	3	4	8
Germany	3	1*	3	1	8	1	1	2	10
France	1	1*	1**	1	4	1	0***	1	5
Netherlands	1	1*	1**	1	4	2	0***	2	6
Japan	1	1*	1**	2	5	3	0***	3	8
Australia	3	1*	1**	2	7	2	1	3	10

*no graduate employment rates available, overall employment rate compared instead

**limited data available

***no data found

PILLAR 4

Country	4.1.1	4.1.2.	4.1 Total /6	4.2.1	4.2.2	4.2.3	4.2 Total /9	Pillar 4 /15
Canada	2	1	3	2	3	2	7	10
United States	3	2	5	3	3	0	6	11
Mexico	2	2	4	N/A	1	1	2	6
United Kingdom	2	3	5	3	1	3	7	12
Italy	2	2	4	N/A	0	2	2	6
Germany	2	2	4	N/A	0	2	2	6
France	1	1	2	N/A	1	2	3	5
Netherlands	2	1	3	2	3	2	7	10
Japan	1	3	4	1	1	2	4	8
Australia	2	2	4	3	3	1	7	11

APPENDIX 3: RESULTS

Country	Sec. 1 /15	Rank Pillar 1	Sec. 2 Total /24	Rank Pillar 2	Sec. 3 Total /21	Rank Pillar 3	Sec. 4 Total /15	Rank Pillar 4	Total Score /75	Final Rank
Canada	9	5	14	6	14	2	10	4	47	3
United States	9	5	16	3	15	1	11	2	51	2
Mexico	1	10	12	8	0	10	6	7	19	10
United Kingdom	11	1	18	1	12	3	12	1	53	1
Italy	3	9	13	7	7	6	5	10	28	9
Germany	11	1	17	2	9	4	6	7	43	5
France	6	8	16	3	3	9	10	4	35	6
Netherlands	10	3	12	8	4	8	6	7	32	7
Japan	9	5	9	10	6	7	8	6	32	7
Australia	10	3	15	5	8	5	11	2	44	4

WEIGHTED RANKING

Country	Total Score /75	# criterias wt points	Weighted total	Final Rank (weighted results)
Canada	47	24	47	5
United States	50	24	50	2
Mexico	19	11	41.455	8
United Kingdom	54	24	54	1
Italy	21	18	36	10
Germany	45	55	49.091	3
France	28	18	37.333	9
Netherlands	40	21	45.714	6
Japan	33	19	41.684	7
Australia	44	22	48	4

APPENDIX 4: SCORES BY COUNTRY



REFERENCES

- Advisory Council on Economic Growth (2017) Unleashing The Growth Potential of Key Sectors, February 6, 2017.
- Ahmed, A., Atif, M., Hossain, M., & Mia, L. (2019, April 25). Do LGBT diversity policies create value for firms? [PDF file]. *Journal of Business Ethics*.
- Aeon Co., Ltd. (2018). *Aeon review 2018: Financial information* [PDF File]. Aeon Co., Ltd. Retrieved from https://ssl4.eir-parts.net/doc/8267/ir_material_for_fiscal_ym13/54508/00.pdf
- Ahold Delhaize. (2019-a). *Eat well, save time, live better: Annual report 2019* [PDF File]. Ahold Delhaize. Retrieved from https://www.aholddelhaize.com/media/10197/ahold-delhaize-annual-report-2019.pdf
- Ahold Delhaize. (2019-b). *Product innovation: Just-for-kids own-brand line baunches in US brands* [web]. Ahold Delhaize. Retrieved from https://www.aholddelhaize.com/en/media/latest/media-releases/product-innovation-just-for-kids-own-brand-line-launches-in-us-brands/
- Ahold Delhaize. (n.d.). *Albert Heijn: Did you know* [web]. Ahold Delhaize. Retrieved from https://www.aholddelhaize.com/en/brands/netherlands/albert-heijn/
- Albert Heijn. (n.d.). *Belangrijke informatie over online bestellen* [web]. Albert Heijn. Retrieved from https://www.ah.nl/producten
- Albertsons Companies. (2018). Albertsons companies inc., reports fourth quarter and full year results [PDF File]. Albertsons Companies. Retrieved from https://last10k.com/sec-filings/1646972
- Albertsons. (n.d.). About us own brand. Alberstons. Retrieved from https://www.albertsons.com/ about-us/own-brand-Ip.html
- Aldi. (n.d.-a). *ALDI merken* [web]. Aldi. Retrieved from https://www.aldi.nl/onze-producten/ aldi-merken.html
- Aldi. (n.d.-b). Decentraal en dicht bij de klant [web]. Aldi. Retrieved from https://www.aldi.nl/ over-ons/over-aldi/lokale-ondernemingen.html
- Aldi. (n.d.-c). *Find your local Aldi* [web]. Aldi. Retrieved from http://storelocator.aldi.com.au/ Presentation/AldiSued/en-au/Start
- Aldi. (n.d.-d). *Produkte: Unsere eigenmarken* [web]. Aldi. Retrieved from https://www.aldi-nord.de/ produkte/unsere-marken.html
- Analysis Group (2018) Food and Consumer Products of Canada (FCPC) Industry Sustainability & Competitiveness Study – Prepared for FCPC. November 2, 2018.
- Asda Group Ltd. (2018). Asda group publishes annual statutory accounts [web]. Asda Group Ltd. Retrieved from https://corporate.asda.com/newsroom/2019/09/16/asda-group-limited-publishes-annual-statutory-accounts
- Asda Group Ltd. (n.d.). *Own brands* [web]. Asda Group Ltd. Retrieved from https://www.asda.com/ about/own-brands
- Auchan Retail. (2020). Auchan annual financial report and non-financial performance statement [PDF File]. Auchan Retail. Retrieved from https://www.auchan-retail.com/en/financial-documents-2019/
- Australia. (2020-a). Australian information commissioner and privacy commissioner [web]. Office of the Australian Information Commissioner. Retrieved from https://www.oaic.gov.au
- Australia. (2020-b). *Patent time and costs* [web]. IP Australia. Retrieved from https://www.ipaustralia. gov.au/patents/understanding-patents/time-and-costs

- Australia. (2020-c). *Types of patents* [web]. IP Australia. Retrieved from https://www.ipaustralia. gov.au/patents/understanding-patents/types-patents
- Australia. (2019-a). Average Weekly Earnings, Australia, Nov 2019 (6302.0) [Data set]. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/ DetailsPage/6302.0Nov%202019?OpenDocument
- Australia. (2019-b). *Budget 2019-20: Overview* [web]. Government of Australia. Retrieved from https://budget.gov.au/2019-20/content/overview.htm
- Australia. (2019-c). *Budget papers* [PDF file]. Australian Government. Retrieved from https://budget.gov.au/2019-20/content/documents.htm
- Australia. (2019-d). Consumer Price Index, Australia (6401.0, Dec 2019) [data set]. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/ DetailsPage/6401.0Dec%202019?OpenDocument
- Australia. (2019-e). *Current grants and assistance* [web]. Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment. Retrieved from https://www.agriculture.gov.au/ag-farm-food/drought/assistance/other-assistance
- Autralia. (2019-f). *Designated international airports in Australia* [web]. Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications. Retrieved from https:// www.infrastructure.gov.au/aviation/international/icao/desig_airports.aspx
- Australia. (2019-g). Distribution of earnings for employees by industry (Table 3) [Data set]. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/ DetailsPage/6333.0August%202019?OpenDocument
- Australia. (2019-h). Form of employment by industry, occupation and educational qualification (Table 10) [Data set]. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.abs.gov.au/ AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/6333.0August%202019?OpenDocument
- Australia. (2019-i). *IP legislation* [web]. IP Australia. Retrieved from https://www.ipaustralia.gov. au/about-us/legislation/ip-legislation
- Australia. (2019-j). Median earnings for employees by demographic characteristics and full-time or part-time (Table 2) [data set]. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Retrieved from https:// www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/6333.0August%202019?OpenDocument
- Australia. (2018). *Review of Australian government data activities 2018* [PDF file]. Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. Retrieved from https://www.pmc.gov.au/resource-centre/ public-data/review-australian-government-data-activities-2018
- Australia. (2016). Food standards Australia New Zealand: Application handbook [PDF file]. Food Standards Australia New Zealand. Retrieved from https://www.foodstandards.gov.au/ code/changes/pages/applicationshandbook.aspx
- Australia. (2015). Australian government public data policy statement [PDF file]. Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. Retrieved from: https://www.pmc.gov.au/resource-centre/ public-data/australian-government-public-data-policy-statement
- Australia. (2014). *Food and medicine regulation* [web]. Department of Health. Retrieved from https://www.tga.gov.au/community-qa/food-and-medicine-regulation
- Australia. (2013). Australian qualifications framework (PDF file). Australian Qualifications Framework Council.
- Australia. (n.d.-a). *Employment by industry 2019* [web]. Parliament of Australia. Retrieved from https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/FlagPost/2019/April/Employment-by-industry-2019

- Australia. (n.d.-b). *Find, explore and reuse Australia's public data* [web]. Australian Government. Retrieved from https://data.gov.au
- Australia. (n.d.-c). *Food Regulation System* [web]. Department of Health. Retrieved from https:// www1.health.gov.au/internet/publications/publishing.nsf/Content/foodsecretariat-stakeholder-engagement-toc~4
- Australia. (n.d.-d). *Grants and programs: Agriculture* [web]. Business. Retrieved from https://www.business.gov.au/SearchResult?query=agriculture&type=1
- Australia. (n.d.-e). *Patents act 1990* (No. 83) [web]. Federal Register of Legislation. Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/C2020C00099
- Australia. (n.d.-f). *Privacy act 1988* [PDF file]. Federal Register of Legislation. Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2004A03712
- Australia. (n.d.-g). *Public data* [web]. Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. Retrieved from https://www.pmc.gov.au/public-data
- Australia. (n.d.-h). *Read the Australian privacy principles* [web]. Office of the Australian Information Commissioner. Retrieved from https://www.oaic.gov.au/privacy/australian-privacy-principles/read-the-australian-privacy-principles/
- Australia. (n.d.-i). Single examination process for Australia and New Zealand [PDF file]. IP Australia & New Zealand Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.ipaustralia.gov. au/sites/default/files/integration_of_patent_examination.pdf?acsf_files_redirect
- Australia. (n.d.-k). *Student payments* [web]. Study Assist. Retrieved from https://www.studyassist. gov.au/support-while-you-study/support-students
- Australian United Retailers Ltd. (2019). Annual report 2018/2018 financial year [PDF File]. Australian United Retailers Ltd. Retrieved from https://foodworks.com.au/file/preview/b558f-1cb-7ad7-4fe0-94bf-19c0bb9505cc/AURL_2019_Financial_Statements.pdf
- Bank of Canada. (2020). *Currency converter* [web]. Bank of Canada. Retrieved from https://www.bankofcanada.ca/rates/exchange/currency-converter/
- Brimhall, K. C., & Mor Barak, M. E. (2018). The critical role of workplace inclusion in fostering innovation, job satisfaction, and quality of care in a diverse human service organization [PDF file]. Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 42(5), 474-492.
- Bryne, D., & McCoy, S. (2011) 'The sooner the better I could get out of there': Barriers to higher education in Ireland. *Irish Educational Studies 30*(2), 141-157. Retrieved from https://doiorg /10.1080/03323315.2011.569135
- Canada. (2020-a). A guide to patents [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from http://www.cipo.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cipoInternet-Internetopic.nsf/eng/h_wr03652.htm-I#marketingLicensingPatent1
- Canada. (2020-b). Consumer Price Index, Annual Average, Not Seasonally Adjusted (Table: 18-10-0005-01) [web]. Statistics Canada. Retrieved from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/ tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1810000501
- Canada. (2020-c). *Doing business abroad: Protecting your IP in Japan* [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cipointernet-internetopic. nsf/eng/wr04733.html
- Canada. (2020-d). Doing business abroad: Protecting your IP in Mexico [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cipointernet-internetopic. nsf/eng/wr04735.html
- Canada. (2020-e). Open data [web]. Government of Canada. Retrieved from https://open.canada. ca/en/open-data

- Canada. (2020-f). *Patent act* (RSC 1985, c. P-4) [web]. Department of Justice. Retrieved from https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/p-4/page-13.html#h-412994
- Canada. (2020-g). Personal information protection and electronic documents (Act SC 2000, c. 5.) [web]. Department of Justice. Retrieved from https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/ENG/ ACTS/P-8.6/index.html
- Canada. (2020-h). *Privacy act RSC 1985, c. P-21* [web]. Department of Justice. Retrieved from https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/ENG/ACTS/P-21/index.html
- Canada. (2020-i). Standard fees for patents [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cipointernet-internetopic.nsf/eng/wr00142.html
- Canada. (2019-a). Annual report 2017-2019: Helping make Canada a global centre for innovation [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/ site/cipointernet-internetopic.nsf/eng/h_wr04468.html
- Canada. (2019-b). *Budget 2019* (Table A2.12, (6) net expenditure) [web]. Government of Canada. Retrieved from https://www.budget.gc.ca/2019/docs/plan/anx-02-en.html#44-Reconciliation-of-Budget-2019-Expenses-with-2018–19-Main-Estimates-and-2019–20-Planned-Estimates
- Canada. (2019-c). *Budget 2019: Investing in the middle class* [PDF File]. Government of Canada. Retrieved from https://www.budget.gc.ca/2019/home-accueil-en.html
- Canada. (2019-d). Canada's digital charter: Trust in a digital world [web]. Innovation, Science, and Economic Development Canada. Retrieved from https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/062.nsf/ eng/h_00108.html
- Canada. (2019-e). Canadian agricultural partnership [web]. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. Retrieved from http://www.agr.gc.ca/eng/about-our-department/key-departmental-initiatives/canadian-agricultural-partnership/?id=1461767369849
- Canada. (2019-f). Consolidated federal laws of Canada, pest control products act [web]. Justice Laws Canada. https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-9.01/
- Canada. (2019-g). *How your patent application is processed* [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cipointernet-internetopic.nsf/eng/ wr01414.html
- Canada. (2019-h). Report to the clerk of the privy council: A data strategy roadmap for the federal public service [PDF File]. Privy Council Office. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/privy-council/corporate/clerk/publications/data-strategy.html
- Canada. (2019-i). Strategic innovation fund: About the program [web]. Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada. Retrieved from http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/125.nsf/ eng/00023.html
- Canada. (2019-j). The government of Canada invests in innovation to advance Canada's food processing [web]. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/ en/agriculture-agri-food/news/2019/08/the-government-of-canada-invests-in-innovation-to-advance-canadas-food-processing.html
- Canada. (2018-a). Consolidated federal laws of Canada, new substances notification regulations (organisms) [web]. Justice Laws Canada. Retrieved from https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/ eng/regulations/SOR-2005-248/index.html
- Canada. (2018-b). *Pollution pricing* [web]. Environment and Climate Change Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/ pricing-pollution-how-it-will-work.html
- Canada. (2018-c). *Protect your innovation* [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cipointernet-internetopic.nsf/eng/wr03586.html

- Canada. (2018-d). Summary of privacy laws in Canada [web]. Office of the Privacy Commissioner of Canada. Retrieved from https://www.priv.gc.ca/en/privacy-topics/privacy-laws-in-can-ada/02_05_d_15/
- Canada. (2018-e). *The Canadian transportation system: Highway and air infrastructure* [web]. Statistics Canada. Retrieved from https://www144.statcan.gc.ca/tdih-cdit/cts-rtc-eng.htm
- Canada. (2017-a). *Managing and reducing waste* [web]. Environment and Climate Change Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/pollution-waste-management/managing-reducing-waste.html
- Canada. (2017-b). *Water overview* [web]. Environment and Climate Change Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/water-overview. html
- Canada. (2016-a). The food directorate's pre-market submission management process for food additives, infant formulas and novel foods [web]. Health Canada. Retrieved from https://www. canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/food-nutrition/public-involvement-partnerships/ food-directorate-market-submission-management-process-food-additives-infant-formulas-novel-foods.html
- Canada. (2016-b). *Tutorial your patent application* [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cipointernet-internetopic.nsf/eng/ wr01398.html
- Canada. (2016-c). *What are trademarks*? [web]. Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from: https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cipointernet-internetopic.nsf/eng/wr03718.html
- Canada. (2015). Centre of administration for permissions [web]. Canadian Food Inspection Agency. https://inspection.gc.ca/about-the-cfia/permits-licences-and-approvals/centre-of-administration-for-permissions/eng/1395348583779/1395348638922
- Canada. (2012). *Rail transportation* [web]. Transport Canada. Retrieved from https://www.tc.gc. ca/eng/policy/anre-menu-3020.htm
- Canada. (2011). *Regulatory readiness: a decision model for Canadian food products* [web]. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. Retrieved from http://www.agr.gc.ca/eng/industry-markets-and-trade/canadian-agri-food-sector-intelligence/processed-food-and-beverages/ trends-and-market-opportunities-for-the-food-processing-sector/regulatory-readiness-a-decision-model-for-canadian-food-products/?id=1311966040606
- Canada. (2010-a). Canada's regulatory system for foods with health benefits: an overview for industry [web]. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. Retrieved from http://www.agr. gc.ca/eng/industry-markets-and-trade/canadian-agri-food-sector-intelligence/processed-food-and-beverages/trends-and-market-opportunities-for-the-food-processing-sector/canada-s-regulatory-system-for-foods-with-health-benefits-an-overview-for-industry/?id=1274467299466
- Canada. (2010-b). Management of hazardous waste and hazardous recyclable material [web]. Environment and Climate Change Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/ en/environment-climate-change/services/managing-reducing-waste/permit-hazardous-wastes-recyclables/management.html
- Canada. (2010-c). *Novel foods* [web]. Health Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/ health-canada/services/food-nutrition/genetically-modified-foods-other-novel-foods/ factsheets-frequently-asked-questions/novel-foods.html
- Canada. (2008). Food additive submission checklist [web]. Retrieved from https://www.canada. ca/en/health-canada/services/food-nutrition/reports-publications/appendix-food-additive-submission-checklist-guide-preparation-submissions-food-additives.html

- Canada. (2007). Canadian environmental protection act registry [web]. Environment and Climate Change Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/canadian-environmental-protection-act-registry.html
- Canada. (n.d.-a). *Fields of study* [web]. Job Bank. Retrieved from https://www.jobbank.gc.ca/career-planning/search-field-of-study
- Canada. (n.d.-b). Studying in food technology and processing College/CEGEP (01.1002) [web]. Job Bank. Retrieved from https://www.jobbank.gc.ca/studentdashboard/01.1002/LOS04
- Canada. (n.d.-c). Wastewater systems effluent regulations [web]. Retrieved from https://laws-lois. justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/SOR-2012-139/FullText.html
- Canadian Agri-food Foresight Institute (2020) A Comparative Study of Canadian and International Food Safety Systems and How To Improve Canadians Access to Safe Food, Canadian Food Inspection Agency
- Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (2020) Manufacturing Our Future: Leveraging Manufacturing For Long-term Canadian Prosperity, June 2020.
- Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (2020) 2020 Management Issues Survey.
- Career One Stop. (n.d.). *Food scientists and technologists* [web]. Career One Stop. Retrieved from https://www.careeronestop.org/toolkit/careers/occupations/Occupation-profile. aspx?keyword=Food%20Scientists%20and%20Technologists&onetcode=19101200&location=USA
- Carrefour Group. (2020). 2019 full-year results presentation [PDF file]. Carrefour Group. Retrieved from https://www.carrefour.com/en/newsroom/2020/2019-full-year-results-presentation
- Carrefour Group. (2019). Financial publications: Sales and results 2019, full-year financial results [PDF file]. Carrefour. Retrieved from https://www.carrefour.com/en/finance/financial-publications
- Carrefour Group. (n.d.-a). All our store formats [web]. Carrefour Group. Retrieved from https:// www.carrefour.com/en/group/stores
- Carrefour Group. (n.d.-b). *Key dates in Carrefour group's history* [web]. Carrefour Group. Retrieved from https://www.carrefour.com/en/group/history
- Carrefour Group. (n.d.-c). *Key dates in Carrefour group's history* [web]. Carrefour. Retrieved from https://www.carrefour.com/en/group/history
- Chedraui. (2017). Closer to you: Annual report 2017 [PDF file]. Chedraui. Retrieved from http:// grupochedraui.com.mx/wp-content/themes/chedraui/documentos/informacion_financiera_ingles/informe_anual/Informe_Anual_2017_ENG.pdf
- Chedraui. (n.d.). Chedraui monteblanco selecto, selecto brand [web]. Chedraui. Retrieved from https://www.chedraui.com.mx/Departamentos/Súper/c/MC21?q=%3Arelevance%3AspecialityCategories%3AnuestrasMarcas&toggleView=grid
- Chung, F. (2017, May 15). Aldi launches biggest brand overhaul in 16 years, vows to maintain price leadership or 'we're dead' [web]. News.com.au. Retrieved from https://www.news.com.au/ finance/business/retail/aldi-launches-biggest-brand-overhaul-in-16-years-vows-to-maintain-price-leadership-or-were-dead/news-story/6459bc21121c7f9160c1d9a40e30b99d
- Coles Group. (2019). 2019 annual report [PDF file]. Coles Group. Retrieved from https://www. colesgroup.com.au/FormBuilder/_Resource/_module/ir5sKeTxxEOndzdh00hWJw/file/ Coles_Annual_Report_2019.pdf
- Coles Group. (n.d.). *Pantry* [web]. Coles Group. Retrieved from https://shop.coles.com.au/a/national/everything/browse/pantry?pageNumber=1
- Conad. (2018). Annual report 2018 [web]. Conad. Retrieved from https://en.calameo.com/ read/0014568979599a14f561d

Conad. (n.d.). Logo rosso [web]. Conad. Retrieved from https://www.conad.it

- Coop. (2019-a). Coop groeit ook in 2019 stevig door [web]. Coop. Retrieved from https://www.coop.nl/ over-coop/coop-groeit-ook-in-2019-stevig-door
- Coop. (2019-b). Jaarveslag Coop 2019 [PDF File]. Coop. Retrieved from https://view.publitas.com/ coop-supermarkten/coop-jaarverslag-2019/page/82-83
- Coop. (n.d.). Coop organization [web]. Coop. Retrieved from https://www.coop.nl/over-coop/ coop-als-organisatie
- Costco Wholesale. (2019-a). 2019 annual report [web]. Costco Wholesale. Retrieved from https:// investor.costco.com/static-files/05c62fe6-6c09-4e16-8d8b-5e456e5a0f7e
- Costco Wholesale. (2019-b). 2019 Annual report [web]. Costco Wholesale. Retrieved from https:// investor.costco.com/static-files/05c62fe6-6c09-4e16-8d8b-5e456e5a0f7e
- Costco Wholesale. (2019-c). 2019 annual report [web]. Retrieved from https://investor.costco.com/ static-files/05c62fe6-6c09-4e16-8d8b-5e456e5a0f7e
- Costco Wholesale. (n.d.-a). *Kirkland Signature* [web]. Costco Wholesale. Retrieved from https:// www.costco.com.mx/search/?text=kirkland
- Costco Wholesale. (n.d.-b). *Kirkland signature* [web]. Costco Wholesale. Retrieved from https://www. costco.com/grocery-household.html
- Costco Wholesale. (n.d.-c). *Kirkland signature* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.costco.com/kirkland-signature.html
- Detailresult Groep. (n.d.-a). Organisatie [web]. Detailresult Groep. Retrieved from https://www.detailresult.nl/over-ons/organisatie
- Detailresult Groep. (n.d.-b). Over ons [web]. Detailresult Groep. Retrieved from https://www.detailresult.nl/over-ons
- Devadoss, J., & Luckstead S. (2019). Trade investment liberalization in the processed food market under the comprehensive economic and trade agreement [PDF file]. *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics* 44(2), 267-290.
- Díaz-García, C., González-Moreno, A., & Sáez-Martínez, F. J. (2013). Gender diversity within R&D teams: Its impact on radicalnes of innovation [PDF file]. *Innovation: Management, Policy & Practice, 15*(2), 149-160.
- Dicex Integral Trade. (2019). Seaports and their role in Mexico [web]. Dicex Integral Trade. Retrieved from https://dicex.com/en/seaports-and-their-role-in-mexico/
- DLA Piper. (2019). Data protection laws of the world: Mexico [web]. DLA Piper. Retrieved from https:// www.dlapiperdataprotection.com/index.html?t=law&c=MX
- E.Leclerc. (2020). 2019 confronte la stratégie commerciale d'E.Leclerc et annonce une croissance solide pour les 3 prochaines années [web]. E.Leclerc. Retrieved from: https://www.mouvement. leclerc/2019-conforte-la-strategie-commerciale-deleclerc-et-annonce-une-croissance-solide-pour-les-3
- E.Leclerc. (n.d.). *Marques* [web]. E.Leclerc. Retrieved from https://www.e-leclerc.com/catalogue/ marques-distributeurs
- Edeka. (2020). Aktuelle geschaftsberichte [web]. Edeka. Retrieved from https://verbund.edeka/unternehmen/daten-fakten/berichte/
- Ellwood, K., Finley, J. W., & Hoadley, J. (2014). Launching a new food product or dietary supplement in the United States: industrial, regulatory, and nutritional considerations [PDF file]. *Annual Review of Nutrition, 34*(1), 421–447. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071813-105817

- Empire Company Limited. (2019). Empire company finishes fiscal 2019 with strong sales and earnings; exceeds sunrise targets; announces 9% dividend increase and share buyback [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://corporate.sobeys.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Empire-Q4-F19-News-Release-SEDAR-EN.pdf
- Environmental Law Alliance Worldwide. (2002-a). Act on the prevention of harmful effects on the environment caused by air pollution, noise, vibration and similar phenomena [web]. Retrieved from https://www.elaw.org/content/germany-act-prevention-harmful-effects-environ-ment-caused-air-pollution-noise-vibration-and-
- Environmental Law Alliance Worldwide. (2002-b). *Federal water act* [web]. Retrieved from https://elaw.org/content/germany-federal-water-act-19-august-2002
- Esselunga Group. (2019). Esselunga Group preliminary results full year 2019 [web]. Esselunga Group. Retrieved from https://www.esselunga.it/cms/investor-relations/press-releases/ news/2019/26/esselunga-group--preliminary-results-full-year-2018.html
- Esselunga Group. (2017). Esselunga group financial statements financial year 2017 [PDF file]. Esselunga. Retrieved from https://www.esselunga.it/cms/info/investor-relations/financial-reports.html
- European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training. (2017). *Apprenticeship review: Italy* [web]. CEDEFOP. Retrieved from https://www.cedefop.europa.eu/en/publications-and-resources/publications/4159
- European Comission. n.d. *Legislation* [web]. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/food/safety/ novel_food/legislation_en
- European Data Portal. (2019). Analytical report 13: Open data best practices in Europe's top three performers: Ireland, Spain and France [PDF File]. European Data Portal. Retrieved from https://www.europeandataportal.eu/sites/default/files/analytical_report_13_open-da-ta-best-practices-top-performers.pdf
- European Food Safety Authority. (n.d.). *Novel food* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/topics/topic/novel-food
- European Supermarket Magazine. (2020, March 9). Les mousquetaires sees 2.1% growth in turnover in FY2019 [web]. European Supermarket Magazine. Retrieved from https://www.esmmagazine.com/retail/les-sees-2-1-growth-in-turnover-in-fy2019-91864
- European Union Law. (n.d.). European parlaiment and council directive on packaging and packaging waste (31994L0062—EN — 26.05.2015). Retrieved from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:01994L0062-20150526&from=EN
- European Union. (2017, April 7). *Italy launches new financial instrument to support agriculture using EU funds* [web]. European Union. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/info/news/italy-launch-new-financial-instrument-agriculture-supported-eu-funds-2017-apr-07_en
- European Union. (2017). *How to register your patent in Mexico* [PDF file]. Latin America IPR SME Helpdesk. Retrieved from https://www.latinamerica-ipr-helpdesk.eu/sites/default/files/ factsheets/how_to_register_your_patent_mexico_edition.pdf
- Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis. (2020). *Consumer price index: Food for Mexico* [web]. Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis. Retrieved from Food and Consumer Products of Canada. (n.d.-a). *Growth and innovation* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.fcpc.ca/Priorities-Policy/Growth-Innovation

Food In Canada (2020) Canadian Food Industry Report

Food and Beverage Canada (2020) Annual Report - 2019-2020 Retreived from https://fbc-abc.com

- Food and Consumer Products of Canada. (n.d.). *Industry sustainability and competitiveness study* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.fcpc.ca/Industry-Resources/Industry-Sustainability-Competitiveness-Study
- France. (2020-a). Consumer price index base 2015 all households France food (Identifier 001759963) [web]. Institut national de la statistique et des études économiques. Retrieved from https://www.insee.fr/en/statistiques/serie/001759963#Tableau
- France. (2020-b). *Patent database* [web]. Institut national de proriété industrielle (INPI). Retrieved from https://bases-brevets.inpi.fr/en/home.html
- France. (2020-c). *The state budget* [web]. Ministère de l'économie et des finances. Retrieved from https://www.aft.gouv.fr/en/state-budget#PLF
- France. (2018). *French agri-food industries* [web]. Ministère de l'agriculture et de l'alimentation. Retrieved from https://agriculture.gouv.fr/french-agri-food-industries-2018
- France. (2017-a). Monthly wage index manufacterer of food products, beverage and tobbaco. Institut national de la statistique et des études économiques (web). Retrieved from https://www.insee.fr/en/statistiques/serie/010562699#Tableau
- France. (2017-b). *The French patent system* [PDF file]. Cabinet Beau de Loménie. Retrieved from http://www.bdl-ip.com/upload/Etudes/uk/french_patent_system.pdf
- France. (2016). Openness of public data [web]. Gouvernement de France. Retrieved from https:// www.gouvernement.fr/en/openness-of-public-data
- France. (2014). *Public data policy* [web]. Gouvernement de France. Retrieved from https://www. gouvernement.fr/en/public-data-policy
- France. (n.d.-a). Data processing, data files and individual liberties: France (Act nº78-17 of 6 January 1978) [PDF File]. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. Retrieved from https://fra.europa.eu/en/law-reference/act-ndeg78-17-6-january-1978-data-process-ing-data-files-and-individual-liberties
- France. (n.d.-b). *ILO employed persons (employment rate)—All—France excluding Mayotte—SA data* (Series 010605852) [Data set]. National Institute of Statistics and Economic Studies. Retrieved from https://www.insee.fr/en/statistiques/serie/010605852#Tableau
- France. (n.d.-c). *Ministère do l'éducation nationale er de la jeunesse* [web]. Ministère Do l'éducation Nationale Er de La Jeunesse. Retrieved from https://www.education.gouv.fr/
- France. (n.d.-d). *Ministry of ecological and solidarity transition* [web]. Ministry of Ecological and Solidarity Transition. Retrieved from https://www.ecologique-solidaire.gouv.fr/en
- France. (n.d.-e). Novel foods and food ingredients [web]. French Agency for Food, Environmental and Occupational Health & Safety . Retrieved from https://www.anses.fr/en/content/ novel-foods-and-food-ingredients
- France. (n.d.-f). *The big investment plan 2018-2022* [web]. Government of France. Retrieved from https://www.gouvernement.fr/en/the-big-investment-plan-2018-2022
- Germany. (2020, May 9). Statistik: 62321 [web]. Federal Office of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www-genesis.destatis.de/genesis/online?operation=statistic&levelindex=0&levelid=1589038252871&code=62321
- Germany. (2020-a). 27th subsidy report: 2017-2020 [web]. Federal Ministry of Finance. Retrieved from https://www.bundesfinanzministerium.de/Content/EN/Standardartikel/Press_ Room/Publications/Brochures/2020-03-03-27subsidy-report.pdf?__blob=publication-File&v=4
- Germany. (2020-b). Agricultural policy: More cash for sustainable agriculture [web]. Federal Government of Germany. Retrieved from https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-en/search/ nachhaltige-landwirtschaft-1667612

- Germany. (2020-c). *Patent fees* [web]. German Patent and Trade Mark Office. Retrieved from https://www.dpma.de/english/services/fees/patents/index.html
- Germany. (2020-d). *Patents: Examination and grant* [web]. German Patent and Trade Mark Office. Retrieved from https://www.dpma.de/english/patents/examination_and_grant/index.html
- Germany. (2020-e). *Questions around patents* [web]. German Patent and Trade Mark Office. Retrieved from https://www.dpma.de/english/patents/faq/index.html
- Germany. (2020-f). Short-term indicators: Consumer price index for Germany, food and non-alcoholic beverages [web]. Statistisches Bundesamt. Retrieved from https://www.destatis. de/EN/Themes/Economy/Short-Term-Indicators/Basic-Data/vpi001j.html;jsessionid=760218DD610D832C2CEA16500E445580.internet8711
- Germany. (2020-g). Waterways as transport routes [web]. Federal Ministry of Transport and Digital Infrastructure. Retrieved from https://www.bmvi.de/SharedDocs/EN/Articles/WS/waterways-as-transport-routes.html
- Germany. (2019-a). Cabinet retreat in Meseberg: German government forges ahead with digitalisation [web]. Federal Government of Germany. Retrieved from https://www.bundesregierung.de/ breg-en/news/digital-klausur-meseberg-1694800
- Germany. (2019-b). More than 60 billion euros revenue for the first time [web]. Rewe Group. Retrieved from: https://www.rewe-group.com/en/newsroom/press-releases/1686-rewe-group-experiences-strong-national-and-international-growth
- Germany. (2019-c). The cabinet makes social cohesion and modernisation priorities [web]. Federal Ministry of Finance. Retrieved from https://www.bundesfinanzministerium.de/Content/ EN/Pressemitteilungen/2019/2019-03-20-pm-eckwertebeschluss.html;jsessionid=CD-C6751A7635F121CC830AC0E68A7038.delivery2-replication
- Germany. (2018). Waste management in Germany 2018: Facts, data, diagrams [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://www.bmu.de/fileadmin/Daten_BMU/Pools/Broschueren/abfallwirtschaft_2018_en_bf.pdf
- Germany. (n.d.-a). Average gross annual earnings of full-time employees in 2019 [web]. Federal Office of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Labour/Earnings/Earnings-Earnings-Differences/Tables/yearly-gross-earnings.html
- Germany. (n.d.-b). *Employees by industries* [web]. Federal Office of Statistics. Retrieved from https:// www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Economy/Short-Term-Indicators/Long-Term-Series/Labour-Market/Irerw14a.html
- Germany. (n.d.-c). *Employment* [web]. Federal Office of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Labour/Labour-Market/Employment/_node.html
- Germany. (n.d.-d). *Federal data protection act* (BDSG) [web]. Bundesministerium der Justiz und fur Verbraucherschutz. Retrieved from https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/englisch_bdsg/
- Germany. (n.d.-e). Federal ministry for the environment, nature conservation and nuclear safety Germany [web]. Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety. Retrieved from https://www.bmu.de/en/
- Germany. (n.d.-f). Federal ministry of food and agriculture [web]. Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture. Retrieved from https://www.bmel.de/EN/Homepage/homepage_node.html
- Germany. (n.d.-g). *German civil code* [web]. Bundesministerium der Justiz und fur Verbraucherschutz. Retrieved from https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/englisch_bgb/englisch_bgb. html
- Germany. (n.d.-h). *Labour market* [web]. Federal Office of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www. destatis.de/EN/Themes/Labour/Labour-Market/_node.html

- Germany. (n.d.-i). *Novel food* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.bfr.bund.de/en/novel_food-1809. html
- Germany. (n.d.-j). *Patent act* [web]. Bundesministerium der Justiz und fur Verbraucherschutz. Retrieved from http://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/englisch_patg/englisch_patg.html#p0387
- Groupe Casino. (2018). Continuons d'innover pour le commerce de domain: Document de référence 2018 [PDF File]. Groupe Casino. Retrieved from https://www.groupe-casino.fr/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Groupe-Casino-DDR-2018.pdf
- Gruppo VéGé. (n.d.-a). Home [web]. Gruppo VéGé. Retrieved from https://www.gruppovege.it
- Gruppo VéGé. (n.d.-b). *Prodotti VéGé* [web]. Gruppo VéGé. Retrieved from https://www.gruppovege.it/prodotti/
- Hale, G. (2019). Regulatory system in North America: Diplomacy navigating asymmetries. *American Review of Canadian Studies* (49)1, 123-149. DOI: 10.1080/02722011.2019.1570956
- Holden, J. (2004). *Italy: Introduction to intellectual property law in Italy* [web]. Mondaq. Retrieved from https://www.mondaq.com/italy/Intellectual-Property/21161/Introduction-To-Intellectual-Property-Law-In-Italy
- IBISWorld. (2018, February 23). *IBISWorld reveals state of the supermarkets and grocery industry* [web]. IBISWorld. Retrieved from https://www.ibisworld.com/industry-insider/press-releases/checkout-update-q1-2018-ibisworld-reveals-the-state-of-play-in-the-supermarketsand-grocery-stores-industry/
- ICLG. (2020-a). *Italy: Litigation and dispute resolution 2020* [web]. ICLG. Retrieved from https://iclg. com/practice-areas/litigation-and-dispute-resolution-laws-and-regulations/italy
- ICLG. (2020-b). *Mexico: Patents 2020* [web]. ICLG. Retrieved from: https://iclg.com/practice-areas/ patents-laws-and-regulations/mexico
- IGA. (n.d.-a). Get a taste for shopping independent [web]. IGA. Retrieved from http://our-stores.iga. com.au
- IGA. (n.d.-b). Our brands [web]. IGA. Retrieved from https://www.iga.com.au/our-brands/
- IGD Retail Analysis. (2015). Latin America: Soriana in focus [web]. IGD Retail Analysis. Retrieved from https://retailanalysis.igd.com/news/news-article/t/latin-america-soriana-in-focus/i/9583
- Italiani Coop. (2019). *Rapporto Coop 2019 versione definitiva* [web]. Italiani Coop. Retrieved from https://www.italiani.coop/rapporto-coop-2019-versione-definitiva/
- Italiani Coop. (n.d.-a). *Private label brand architecture* [web]. Italiani Coop. Retrieved from https:// coopitalianfood.com/business-model/private-label-brand-architecture/
- Italiani Coop. (n.d.-b). *Punti vendita* [web]. Italiani Coop. Retrieved from https://www.e-coop.it/ punti-vendita
- Italy. (2013). Italian code of industrial property (Legislative Decree Nº30 of 10 February 2005) [PDF file]. LES Italy. Retrieved from https://www.wipo.int/edocs/lexdocs/laws/en/it/it204en. pdf
- Italy. (2019). *Brevetti per invenzione industrale* [PDF file]. Ministero Dello Svluppo Economico. Retrieved from https://www.uibm.gov.it/attachments/invenzionistruzioni.pdf
- Italy. (2018). *The new Italian port system* [web]. Ministero delle Infrastrutture e dei Transporti. Retrieved from http://www.mit.gov.it/en/comunicazione/news/porti/new-italian-port-system
- Italy. (n.d.-a). Average hourly earnings for employee jobs in the private sector: Level of education [web]. Italian National Institute of Statistics. Retrieved from http://dati.istat.it/Index.aspx?QueryId=33475&lang=en

- Italy. (n.d.-b). *Employment rate, monthly data* [web]. Italian National Institute of Statistics. Retrieved from http://dati.istat.it/Index.aspx?QueryId=25132&lang=en
- Italy. (n.d.-c). *Home page* [web]. Ministero delle politiche Agricole alimentary e forestali. Retrieved from https://www.politicheagricole.it/flex/cm/pages/ServeBLOB.php/L/IT/IDPagina/202
- Italy. (n.d.-d). *Information Italian patents* [PDF file]. SID. Retrieved from http://www.sib.it/en/patents/inventions-insights/patents/italian-patents/
- Italy. (n.d.-e). Istituto zooprofilattico sperimentale del lazio e della toscana [web]. Retrieved from http://www.izslt.it/eng/food-safety/%0ahttp:/www.salute.gov.it/portale/p5_0.jsp?lingua=italiano&id=52
- Italy. (n.d.-f). University graduates—occupational status: Degree group and monthly income [web]. Italian National Institute of Statistics. Retrieved from http://dati.istat.it/Index.aspx?QueryId=25981&lang=en
- Italy. (n.d.-g). *Ufficio Italiano brevetti e marchi* [web]. Ministero dello sviluppo economico. Retrieved from https://uibm.mise.gov.it/index.php/it/
- Japan. (2020-a). *Budget* [PDF File]. Ministry of Finance, Japan. Retrieved from https://www.mof. go.jp/english/budget/budget/index.html
- Japan. (2020-b). Preliminary statistical data on applications, requests and registrations [web]. Japan Patent Office. Retrieved from https://www.jpo.go.jp/e/resources/statistics/syutugan_ toukei_sokuho/index.html
- Japan. (2020-c). Schedule of fees [web]. Japan Patent Office. Retrieved from https://www.jpo. go.jp/e/system/process/tesuryo/hyou.html
- Japan. (2019-a). Employed person by industry and occupation 2019 average. Retrieved from https:// www.e-stat.go.jp/en/stat-search/files?page=1&layout=datalist&toukei=00200531&tstat=000000110001&cycle=7&year=20190&month=0&tclass1=000001040276&tclass2=000001040283&tclass3=000001040284&result_back=1
- Japan. (2019-b). *Procedures for obtaining a patent right* [web]. Japan Patent Office. Retrieved from https://www.jpo.go.jp/e/system/patent/gaiyo/patent.html
- Japan. (2017). Laws and policies: Act on the protection of personal information [PDF file]. Personal Information Protection Commission Japan. Retrieved from https://www.ppc.go.jp/en/ legal/
- Japan. (2015). Current legal framework of the protection of personal information [PDF file]. Personal Information Protection Commission Japan. Retrieved from https://www.ppc.go.jp/files/ pdf/280222_Current_Legal_Framework_v2.pdf
- Japan. (2013). Japan open data charter action plan [PDF file]. Prime Minister of Japan and Cabinet. Retrieved from https://japan.kantei.go.jp/policy/it/2013/1029_fulltext.pdf
- Japan. (2012-a). *List of FAQs: Fees* [web]. Japan Patent Office. Retrieved from https://www.jpo.go.jp/e/faq/yokuaru/fees.html
- Japan. (2012-b). Open government data strategy [PDF file]. IT Strategic Headquarters. Retrieved from https://japan.kantei.go.jp/policy/it/20120704/text.pdf
- Japan. (2011). *The role of the Japan patent office* [web]. Japan Patent Office. Retrieved from https://www.jpo.go.jp/e/introduction/soshiki/yakuwari.html
- Japan. (2007). *Airports in Japan* [web]. Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism (MLIT). Retrieved from https://www.mlit.go.jp/koku/15_hf_000124.html
- Japan. (2006). *Patent act* (Act No. 121 of April 13, 1959) [web]. Japanese Law Translation. Retrieved from http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?printID=&ft=1&co=01&x=32&y=19&ky=XXX&page=10&id=42&lvm=&re=02&vm=02

- Japan. (n.d.-a). *Waste & Recycling* [web]. Ministry of the Environment. Retrieved from http://www. env.go.jp/en/recycle/index.html
- Japan. (n.d.-b). *Food additives* [web]. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. Retrieved from https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/seisakunitsuite/bunya/kenkou_iryou/shokuhin/syokuten/ index_00012.html
- Japan. (n.d.-c). *Implementation of imported foods monitoring plan for FY 2019* [web]. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. Retrieved from https://www.mhlw.go.jp/english/topics/importedfoods/19/index.html
- Japan. (n.d.-d). *Agricultural Chemicals Regulation* [web]. Food and Agricultural Materials Inspection Center. Retrieved from http://www.acis.famic.go.jp/eng/hourei/regulation_law.htm
- Japan. (n.d.-e). *Health & Chemicals* [web]. Ministry of the Environment. Retrieved from http:// www.env.go.jp/en/chemi/index.html
- Japan.(n.d.-f). *Food* [web]. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. Retrieved from https://www. mhlw.go.jp/english/topics/foodsafety/
- Japan. (n.d.-g). A guide to Japan's aid [web]. Government of Japan. Retrieved from https://www. mofa.go.jp/policy/oda/guide/1998/1-6.html
- Japan. (n.d.-h). Labour force survey basic tabulation statistical table whole Japan yearly 2019 [web]. Portal Site of Official Statistics of Japan. Retrieved from https://www.e-stat.go.jp/en/stat-search/files?page=1&layout=datalist&toukei=00200531&tstat=000000110001&cycle=7&year=20190&month=0&tclass1=000001040276&tclass2=000001040283&tclass3=000001040284&result_back=1
- Japan. (n.d.-i). *Laws of Japan: Civil code* (Part I, Part II Chapter I, 1896 Act No 89 of 1896) [web]. AsianLii. Retrieved from http://www.asianlii.org/jp/legis/laws/ccipici1896an89o1896346/
- Japan. (n.d.-j). Diversity [web]. Retrieved from https://www.japan.go.jp/diversity/index.html
- Japan. (n.d.-k). *Higher education in Japan* (PDF file). Retrieved from https://www.mext.go.jp/en/ policy/education/highered/index.htm
- John Lewis Partnership. (2019). *The partnership difference: John Lewis partnership PLC annual report and accounts 2019* [PDF file]. John Lewis Partnership. Retrieved from https://www. johnlewispartnership.co.uk/content/dam/cws/pdfs/financials/annual-reports/john-lewis-partnership-annual-report-and-accounts-2019.pdf
- Jolly, J. (2020, January 6). Aldi sales reach record £1bn at Christmas as it opens more stores [web]. The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/business/2020/jan/06/aldisales-christmas-stores
- Juhasz, Mark (2017) An Analysis of Canada's Investment Value-chain Gaps: An Agriculture and Agrifood Perspective, Final Report for Agriculture and Agri-food Canada
- Jumbo. (2019-a). 2019 jumbo formule ziet omzet met ruim 1 miljard stijgen [web]. Jumbo. Retrieved from: https://www.jumborapportage.com/in-het-kort/
- Jumbo. (2019-b). *Toelichting kerngegevens* [web]. Jumbo. Retrieved from https://www.jumborapportage.com/jaarverslagen/2019/corporate-jaarverslag/kerngegevens/toelichting-kerngegevens
- Kantar. (2020-a). *France: Grocery market share* [web]. Kantar. Retrieved from https://www.kantarworldpanel.com/grocery-market-share/france
- Kantar. (2020-b). *Great Britain: Grocery market share* [web]. Kantar. Retrieved from https://www. kantarworldpanel.com/grocery-market-share/great-britain
- Knoema. (2018). Japan Total route rail lines [web]. Knoema. Retrieved from https://knoema.com/ atlas/Japan/Length-of-rail-lines

- Kroger. (2018). 2018 Kroger fact book [PDF File]. Retrieved from http://ir.kroger.com/Cache/ IRCache/a6a0a700-fddd-d4a0-ad3e-c2e12b070cf9.PDF?O=PDF&T=&Y=&D=&-FID=a6a0a700-fddd-d4a0-ad3e-c2e12b070cf9&iid=4004136
- Kroger. (n.d.). Our quality brands [web]. Kroger. Retrieved from https://www.kroger.com/b/ourbrands
- LaComer. (2019). *Financial information: Annual reports* [PDF File]. LaComer. Retrieved from http:// lacomerfinanzas.com.mx/en/informacion-financiera/informes-anuales/
- Les Mousquetaires. (n.d.). Intermarché [web]. Les Mousquetaires. Retrieved from https://www. mousquetaires.com/nos-enseignes/alimentaire/intermarche/
- Lexis Halsbury's Laws of Canada. (2020). *I. Patents of invention, 1 applicable law, (2) patent act* [web]. Retrieved from https://advance.lexis.com/api/permalink/23e8fd96-e8fa-4c3b-935 a-561fd48c8dbd/?context=1505209
- Lidl GB. (n.d.-a). About our products [web]. Lidl GB. Retrieved from https://www.lidl.co.uk/ our-products
- Lidl GB. (n.d.-b). Our history [web]. Lidl GB. Retrieved from https://www.lidl.co.uk/about-us
- Lidl. (n.d.-c). *Lidl Nederland* [web]. Lidl. Retrieved from https://corporate.lidl.nl/?_ ga=2.154771128.1251652950.1587940977-251429966.1587940977
- Lidl. (n.d.-d). Number of stores [web]. Lidl. Retrieved from https://unternehmen.lidl.de/about-lidl
- Life. (n.d.). *Home* [web]. Life. Retrieved from http://www.lifecorp.jp/company/ir/library/archive. html
- Loblaw Companies Ltd. (2019). *Live life well: 2019 annual report* [PDF file]. Retrieved from https:// s1.q4cdn.com/326961052/files/doc_financials/2019/ar/6573_LCL_ENG_AR2019_Complete_AODA.pdf
- Loblaw Companies Ltd. (n.d.). Home [web]. Retrieved from https://www.loblaw.ca/en.html
- Long, B. T. (2014). Addressing the academic barriers to higher education [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/handle/10919/90811
- Maritime UK. (2020). *Ports* [web]. Maritime UK. Retrieved from https://www.maritimeuk.org/ about/our-sector/ports/
- Maruetsu. (2018). 2018 corporate profile [PDF file]. Shiawaseikatsu, Maruetsu. Retrieved from https://www.maruetsu.co.jp/corporate/pdf/2018_kaishaannai_english.pdf
- Maruetsu. (2012). *Happy living: 2012 corporate profile* [PDF File]. Maruetsu. Retrieved from https://www.maruetsu.co.jp/corporate/pdf/2012_kaishaannai_english.pdf
- Maurizio, C., & Silvia, C. (2020). Consumer stated preferences for dairy products with carbon footprint labels in Italy. *Agricultural and Food Economics*, 8(1) Retrieved from http://dx.doi. org. /10.1186/s40100-019-0149-1
- Metcash. (2019). Investing for growth: Metcash annual report 2019 [PDF file]. Metcash. Retrieved from https://mars-metcdn-com.global.ssl.fastly.net/content/uploads/ sites/101/2019/07/26111329/Metcash-Annual-Report-2019.pdf
- Metro. (2020). Shareholder information: Financial information [web]. Retrieved from https://corpo. metro.ca/en/investor-relations.html
- Metro. (2019). Annual report 2018/19: Consolidated financial statements [PDF File]. Metro. Retrieved from https://reports.metroag.de/annual-report/2018-2019/servicepages/downloads.html
- Metro. (n.d.-a). Our products and private brands [web]. Retrieved from https://www.metro.ca/en/ our-products-private-brands

- Metro. (n.d.-b). *The own brands* [web]. Metro. Retrieved from https://www.metroag.de/en/ brands/real
- Mexico. (2006). *Employment and occupation* [web]. National Institute of Statistics and Geography. Retrieved from http://en.www.inegi.org.mx/temas/empleo/default.html#Tabular_data
- Mexico. (n.d.-a). Los más buscado [web]. Government of Mexico. Retreieved from https://www. gob.mx/tramites
- Mexico. (n.d.-b). Comisión federal para la protección contra riesgos sanitarios [web]. Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios. Retrieved from https://www.gob.mx/ cofepris
- Mexico. (n.d.-c). Government of Mexico [web]. Retrieved from http://www.gob.mx/
- Mexico. (n.d.-d). Instituto Mexicano de la propiedad industrial [web]. Government of Mexico. Retrieved from https://www.gob.mx/impi
- Mexico. (n.d.-e). Secretaría de Educación Pública [web]. Secretaría de Educación Pública. Retrieved from https://www.gob.mx/sep
- Morrisons Corporate. (2019). 2018/19 investor financial report [PDF File]. Morrisons Corporate. Retrieved from https://www.morrisons-corporate.com/investor-centre/financial-reports/
- Netherlands. (2020). Consumer prices; price index 2015=100 [web]. CBS Statistics Netherlands. Retrieved from https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/en/dataset/83131eng/ table?ts=158619811027
- Netherlands. (2019-a). *Data agenda government* [PDF file]. Digital Government. Retrieved from https://www.nldigitalgovernment.nl/document/data-agenda-government/
- Netherlands. (2019-b). Dutch vision on data sharing between businesses [PDF file]. Government of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/ministries/ministry-of-eco-nomic-affairs-and-climate-policy/documents/reports/2019/02/01/dutch-vision-on-da-ta-sharing-between-businesses
- Netherlands. (2019-c). Employment; sex,type of employment contract,job characteristics,cao-sector [web]. CBS Statistics Netherlands. Retrieved from https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/ CBS/en/dataset/81463ENG/table?ts=1585336799099
- Netherlands. (2018). Summary of the 2019 budget memorandum [PDF file]. Government of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/topics/budget-day/documents/budgets/2018/09/18/summary-of-the-2019-budget-memorandum
- Netherlands. (2017, December 14). Government wants €75 million for young farmers [web]. Government of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/topics/agriculture/ news/2017/12/14/government-wants-€75-million-for-young-farmers
- Netherlands. (2013). Information from the government of the Netherlands [web]. Governemtn of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/
- Netherlands. (2004). Environmental management act [PDF file]. Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and the Environment. Retrieved from https://www.asser.nl/upload/eel-webroot/ www/documents/national/netherlands/EMA052004.pdf
- Netherlands. (n.d.-a). Continuing vocational training [web]. CBS Statistics Netherlands. Retrieved from https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/en/dataset/81850ENG/ table?ts=1585316843379
- Netherlands. (n.d.-b). *Fees (patents)* [web]. Netherlands Enterprise Agency. Retrieved from https://english.rvo.nl/onderwerpen/innovative-enterprise/patents-other-ip-rights/patents/fees-patents
- Netherlands. (n.d.-c). *Food safety requirements* [web]. Government of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/topics/food/food-safety-requirements

- Netherlands. (n.d.-d). *Funding of European grants* [web]. Government of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/topics/european-grants
- Netherlands. (n.d.-e). *Government-wide programme for a circular economy* [web]. Government of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/documents/let-ters/2016/09/14/government-wide-programme-for-a-circular-economy
- Netherlands. (n.d.-f). *How can I apply for a patent?* [web]. Governement of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/topics/intellectual-property/question-and-answer/how-can-i-apply-for-a-patent
- Netherlands. (n.d.-g). International visitor DUO [web]. Education Administration Service: Ministry of Education, Culture and Science. Retrieved from https://www.duo.nl/particulier/ international-visitor/index.jsp
- Netherlands. (n.d.-h). *Monthly labour participation and unemployment* [web]. CBS Statistics Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/figures/detail/80590eng
- Netherlands. (n.d.-i). *Patent act 1995* [web]. Netherlands Enterprise Agency. Retrieved from https://english.rvo.nl/topics/innovation/patents-other-ip-rights-topic/patent-law/patent-act-1995
- Netherlands. (n.d.-j). *Patent and other IP rights* [web]. Netherlands Enterprise Agency. Retrieved from https://english.rvo.nl/onderwerpen/innovative-enterprise/patents-other-ip-rights
- Netherlands. (n.d.-k). *Protection of intellectual proeprty and trade secrets* [web]. Government of the Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.government.nl/topics/intellectual-property
- Netherlands. (n.d.-l). *Protection of personal data* [web]. Business Netherlands. Retrieved from https://business.gov.nl/regulation/protection-personal-data/
- Netherlands. (n.d.-m). Wealth of households; components of wealth [web]. CBS Statistics Netherlands. Retrieved from https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/figures/detail/83834ENG
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-a). *Australia (AUS) exports, imports, and trade partners* [web]. Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/profile/country/aus/
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-b). Canada (CAN) exports, imports, and trade partners [web]. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/profile/country/can/
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-c). *France (FRA) exports, imports, and trade partners* [web]. Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/pro-file/country/fra/
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-d). *Germany (DEU) exports, imports, and trade partners* [web]. Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/profile/country/deu/
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-e). Japan (JPN) exports, imports, and trade partners [web]. Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/profile/country/jpn/
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-f). *Italy (ITA) exports, imports, and trade partners* [web]. The Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/profile/ country/ita/
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-g). *Mexico (MEX) exports, imports, and trade partners* [web]. Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/profile/country/mex/
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-h). *Netherlands (NLD) exports, imports, and trade partners* [web]. Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/ profile/country/nld/

- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-i). United Kingdom (GBR) exports, imports, and trade partners [web]. The Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/ profile/country/gbr
- Observatory of Economic Complexity. (n.d.-k). United States (USA) exports, imports, and trade partners [web]. Observatory of Economic Complexity. Retrieved from https://oec.world/en/profile/ country/usa/
- Official Journal of the European union. (2015). *Regulation (EU) on novel foods* (2015/2283) [web]. Retrieved from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX-:32015R2283&from=EN
- Okuyama, S. (2016). *Patent infringement litigation in Japan* [PDF file]. Japan Patent Office. Retrieved from https://www.jpo.go.jp/e/news/kokusai/developing/training/textbook/document/in-dex/patent_infringement_litigation_in_japan_2016.pdf
- Open Government Partnership. (2015). Open government partnership: Summit agenda [PDF File]. Open Government Partnership. Retrieved from https://www.opengovpartnership.org/documents/download-the-agenda-in-word/
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2020-a). *GDP per hour worked (labour productivity)* [Data set]. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from https://data.oecd.org/lprdty/gdp-per-hour-worked.htm
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2020-b). *Long-term interest rates* [Data set]. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from https://data.oecd.org/interest/long-term-interest-rates.htm
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2018-a). Average wages: Total, US dollars, 2018 or latest available [web]. Retrieved from https://data.oecd.org/earnwage/average-wages.htm#indicator-chart
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2018-b). *Open government data in Mexico: The way forward* [PDF File]. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/gov/open-government-data-in-mexico-9789264297944-en.htm
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2014). *Frieght railway development in Mexico* [PDF file]. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/14mexicorail.pdf
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2002). Foreign Direct Investment for Development: Maximising Benefits, Minimising Costs [web]. Retrieved from https://www.oecd. org/investment/investmentfordevelopment/foreigndirectinvestmentfordevelopmentmaximisingbenefitsminimisingcosts.htm
- https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/MEXCPIFODAINMEI
- Peterson, H. (2020). The grocery wars are intensifying with Walmart and Kroger in the lead and Amazon poised to 'cause disruption' [web]. Business Insider Singapore. Retrieved from https://www.businessinsider.sg/walmart-kroger-dominate-us-grocery-amazon-gains-share-2020-1
- Qasim, H., Liang, Y., Guo, R., Saeed, A., & Badar, N. A. (2019). The defining role of environmental self-identity among consumption values and behavioral intention to consume organic food. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(7), 1106. DOI 10.3390/ ijerph16071106
- Redman, R. (2019, February 27). Ahold Delhaize closes out fiscal year on an up note [web]. Supermarket News. Retrieved from https://www.supermarketnews.com/retail-financial/ahold-delhaize-closes-out-fiscal-year-note
- Report of Canada's Economic Strategy Tables: Agri-food (2018) The Innovation and Competitiveness Imperative: Seizing Opportunities for Growth

- Rewe Group. (2018). *Rewe group annual report 2018* [web]. Rewe Group. Retrieved from https:// www.rewe-group-geschaeftsbericht.de/en/home/index.html
- Rewe. (n.d.). *Die REWE markenwelt nur das beste fur dich* [web]. Rewe. Retrieved from https:// www.rewe.de/marken/
- Roy Morgan. (2019, April 5). *Woolworths and Aldi grow grocery market share in 2018* [web]. Roy Morgan. Retrieved from http://www.roymorgan.com/findings/7936-australian-grocery-market-december-2018-201904050426
- Sansbury's. (2019). Annual report and financial statements 2019 [PDF File]. Sansbury's. Retrieved from https://www.about.sainsburys.co.uk/investors/annual-report-2019
- Sainsbury's. (n.d.). *Ranges* [web]. Sainsbury's. Retrieved from https://www.sainsburys. co.uk/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/gb/groceries/get-ideas/our-ranges/our-ranges?storeId=10151&langId=44&krypto=%2B3hQOfTNF0GfDIwFu%2Ft%2BT5iL7CpuS4eop-DjwBMBK%2FfVgaqjLHOc3rwNh27rStT0vIbW%2F6mG54mdWlyrv9yuOZBJ5rq95L6DP-JfOXaf8RucSObylayI3K6PJhQ3QDBEL4gIYrwx%2BqGONCWVukunnq9jgzUfsdc%-2Fo4ivU5P8VSwH0%3D&ddkey=https%3Agb%2Fgroceries%2Fget-ideas%2Four-ranges%-2Four-ranges
- Sea Rates. (2020). Sea ports of Japan [web]. Sea Rates. Retrieved from https://www.searates. com/maritime/japan.html
- Seijo Ishii. (n.d.-a). About us: Business [web]. Seijo Ishii. Retrieved from http://www.seijoishii.co. jp/en/business/
- Seijo Ishii. (n.d.-b). *Philsophy: Quality food for a quality life* [web]. Seijo Ishii. Retrieved from http:// www.seijoishii.co.jp/en/about/
- Senate Canada. (2019) *Made In Canada: Growing Canada's Value-Added Food Sector*. Report of the Standing Senate Committee on Agriculture and Forestry. July 2019.
- Selex Gruppo Commerciale. (2020). Comunicati stampa [web]. Selex Gruppo Commerciale. Retrieved from https://www.selexgc.it/it/comunicati-stampa
- Selex Gruppo Commerciale. (n.d.-a). *Le insegne del gruppo* [web]. Selex Gruppo Commerciale. Retrieved from https://www.selexgc.it
- Selex Gruppo Commerciale. (n.d.-b). *Le nostre marche* [web]. Selex. Retrieved from https://www. famila.it/le-nostre-marche
- Sobeys Corporate. (n.d.-a). Sobeys private label offering [web]. Retrieved from https://corporate. sobeys.com/our-brands/
- Sobeys Corporate. (n.d.-b). Our stores and businesses: At a glance [web]. Retrieved from https:// corporate.sobeys.com/at-a-glance/
- Soriana. (2017). Soriana reports fourth quarter and full year 2017 financial results [PDF File]. Soriana. Retrieved from http://www.organizacionsoriana.com/pdf/reportes/2017/Eng-2018_02_23_Press_Release_4QFY2017.pdf
- Statistica. (2018). Number of airports in Mexico from 1991 to 2018 [web]. Statistica. Retrieved from https://www.statista.com/statistics/746907/mexico-number-of-airports/
- Steier, G. (2018). The carbon tax vacuum and the debate about climate change: Emission taxation of commodity crop production in food system regulation. *Pace Environmental Law Review 35*(2), 346-374.
- Système U. (n.d.). *Toutes les marques U* [web]. Système U. Retrieved from https://www.magasins-u.com/toutes-les-marques-u
- Tesco. (2019). Annual report and financial statements 2019 [PDF file]. Tesco. Retrieved from https:// www.tescoplc.com/investors/reports-results-and-presentations/annual-report-2019/

- United Kingdom. (2020-a). Consumer price inflation timer series [web]. Office for National Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/datasets/consumerpriceindices
- United Kingdom. (2020-b). *Employment by occupation* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov. uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/datasets/employmentbyoccupationemp04
- United Kingdom. (2020-c). *Guidance: State aid for agriculture and fisheries* [web]. Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ state-aid-for-agriculture-and-fisheries#public-money-spend-the-process
- United Kingdom. (2020-d). *Guidance: UK seafood innovation fund* [web]. Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/guidance/uk-seafood-innovation-fund
- United Kingdom. (2020-e). Labour market status of disabled people [data set]. Office for National Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/datasets/labourmarketstatusofdisabledpeoplea08
- United Kingdom. (2019-a). Farmers affected by this summer's flooding can now apply for support through the farming recovery fund [web]. Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/news/defra-opens-2-million-fundto-restore-flood-affected-farmland
- United Kingdom. (2019-b). *Guidance: National data strategy* [web]. Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-data-strategy#what-happens-next
- United Kingdom. (2018-a). Airport data (2018 01) [data set]. UK Civil Aviation Authority. Retrieved from https://www.caa.co.uk/Data-and-analysis/UK-aviation-market/Airports/ Datasets/UK-Airport-data/Airport-data-2018-01/
- United Kingdom. (2018-b). *Data protection act* (2018, c 12) [web]. UK Legislation (Government). Retrieved from http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted
- United Kingdom. (2018-c). *Employment by country of birth and nationality* [data set]. Office for National Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/ peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/datasets/employmentbycountryofbirthandnationalityemp06
- United Kingdom. (2018-d). *Policy paper, budget 2018: Documents* [PDF file]. HM Treasury & Rt Hon Philip Hammond. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/budget-2018-documents
- United Kingdom. (2018-e). Statutory guidance: The patents act 1977 [PDF file]. Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-patentsact-1977
- United Kingdom. (2014). *Guidance: Patent fact sheets* [PDF file]. Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/patent-fact-sheets
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-a). *EARNO2: Average weekly earnings by sector* [web]. Office for National Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peo-pleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/datasets/averageweeklyearningsbysectorearn02
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-b). *Carbon emissions tax* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/carbon-emmisions-tax/carbon-emmisions-tax
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-c). *Data protection* [web]. UK Government. Retrieved from https://www. gov.uk/data-protection

- United Kingdom. (n.d.-d). *Earnings and working hours* [web]. Office for National Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-f). *Guidelines for environmental risk assessment and management: Green leaves III* [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guide-lines-for-environmental-risk-assessment-and-management-green-leaves-iii
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-g). *Home* [web]. Information Commissioner's Office. Retrieved from https://ico.org.uk
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-h). Intellectual property enterprise court [web]. HM Courts & Tribunals Service. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/intellectual-property-enterprise-court
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-i). *Intellectual property: Law and practice* [web]. United Kingdom Government. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/topic/intellectual-property/law-practice
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-j). *Limitation act* (1980 c. 58) [web]. UK Legislation. Retrieved from http:// www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/58
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-k). *Novel foods* [web]. Food Standards Agency. Retrieved from http://www. food.gov.uk/business-guidance/novel-foods
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-l). *Packaging (essential requirements) regulations: Guidance notes* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/packaging-essential-requirements-regulations-guidance-notes
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-m). *Patenting your invention* [web]. Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/patent-your-invention/decide-to-apply
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-n). *Renew a patent* [web]. Intellectual Property Office. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/renew-patent
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-o). *Waste and environmental impact* [web]. Retrieved from https://www. gov.uk/browse/business/waste-environment
- United Kingdom. (n.d.-p). *What can I do with a food science degree?* [web]. Prospects. Retrieved from https://www.prospects.ac.uk/careers-advice/what-can-i-do-with-my-degree/ food-science
- United States. (2020-a). Agriculture and food research initiative [web]. National Institute of Food and Agriculture. Retrieved from https://nifa.usda.gov/program/agriculture-and-food-research-initiative-afri
- United States. (2020-b). Agriculture and food research initiative: Education and workforce development [web]. National Institute of Food and Agriculture (US Department of Agriculture). Retrieved from https://nifa.usda.gov/funding-opportunity/agriculture-and-food-research-initiative-education-workforce-development
- United States. (2020-c). *Beginning farmer and rancher development program* [web]. National Institute of Food and Agriculture. Retrieved from https://nifa.usda.gov/funding-opportunity/ beginning-farmer-and-rancher-development-program-bfrdp
- United States. (2020-d). Community food projects (CFP) competitive grants program [web]. National Institute of Food and Agriculture. Retrieved from https://nifa.usda.gov/funding-opportunity/community-food-projects-cfp-competitive-grants-program
- United States. (2020-e). *Food safety outreach program* [web]. National Institute of Food and Agriculture. Retrieved from https://nifa.usda.gov/funding-opportunity/food-safety-out-reach-program

- United States. (2020-f). *Guidance for industry: questions and answers about the food additive or color additive petition process* [web]. Food and Drug Administration.Retrieved from http:// www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/guidance-industry-questions-and-answers-about-food-additive-or-color-additive-petition-process
- United States. (2020-g). March 25, 2020 forecast: Consumer price indexes (not seasonally adjusted) and forecasts by USDA, economic research service [web]. US Bureau of Labor Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/cpi/tables/home.htm
- United States. (2020-h). Search for a funding opportunity [web]. National Institute of Food and Agriculture (US Department of Agriculture). Retrieved from https://nifa.usda.gov/page/ search-grant
- United States. (2020-i). Specialty crop research initiative [web]. National Institute of Food and Agriculture (US Department of Agriculture). Retrieved from https://nifa.usda.gov/fund-ing-opportunity/specialty-crop-research-initiative-scri
- United States. (2020-j). *The United States code, title 35 patents* [web]. Office of the Law Revision Counsel. Retrieved from https://uscode.house.gov/browse/prelim@title35/part3/chapter29&edition=prelim
- United States. (2019-a). 2020 action plan: Federal data strategy: Leveraging data as a strategic asset [PDF file]. Offices of Management and Budget, Science and Technology Policy, Department of Commerce and Small Business Administration . Retrieved from https://strategy. data.gov/action-plan/
- United States. (2019-b). *Budget of the US government* [web]. United States Government. Retrieved from https://www.usa.gov/budget
- United States. (2019-c). *Freight rail overview* [web]. Federal Railroad Administration, US Department of Transportation. Retrieved from https://railroads.dot.gov/rail-network-development/freight-rail/freight-rail-overview
- United States. (2019-d). Ingredients, additives, GRAS & packaging guidance documents & regulatory information [web]. Food and Drug Administration. Retrieved from http://www.fda.gov/ food/guidance-documents-regulatory-information-topic-food-and-dietary-supplements/ ingredients-additives-gras-packaging-guidance-documents-regulatory-information
- United States. (2019-e). *Number of U.S. airports* [data set]. Bureau of Transportation Statistics, US Department of Transportation. Retrieved from https://www.bts.gov/content/number-us-airportsa
- United States. (2019-f). *Retail trends* [web]. Economic Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture. Retrieved from https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-markets-prices/retailing-wholesaling/retail-trends/
- United States. (2019-f). Spending explorer [web]. USA Spending. Retrieved from https://www. usaspending.gov/#/explorer/budget_function
- United States. (2019-g). *The Dutch food retail report 2019* [PDF file]. U.S. Foreign Agricultural Service. Retrieved from https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/report/downloadreport-byfilename?filename=Retail%20Foods_The%20Hague_Netherlands_6-26-2019.pdf
- United States. (2018-a). Canada retail foods retail sector overview 2018 [web]. USDA Foreign Agricultural Service. Retrieved from https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/report/ downloadreportbyfilename?filename=Retail%20Foods_Ottawa_Canada_6-26-2018.pdf
- United States. (2018-b). *Germany retail foods 2018* [PDF File]. Foreign Agricultural Service. Retrieved from https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/report/downloadreportbyfilename?filename=Retail%20Foods_Berlin_Germany_4-17-2018.pdf

- United States. (2018-c). *Mexico: Retail foods 2018* [PDF file]. Foreign Agricultural Service, US Department of Agriculture. Retrieved from https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/ report/downloadreportbyfilename?filename=Retail%20Foods_Mexico%20City%20ATO_ Mexico_8-7-2018.pdf
- United States. (2018-d). *Number of stations served by amtrak and rail transit, fiscal year* [data set]. Bureau of Transportation Statistics, US Department of Transportation. Retrieved from https://www.bts.gov/content/number-stations-served-amtrak-and-rail-transit-fiscal-year
- United States. (2018-e). *Tonnage of top 50 US water ports, ranked by total tons* [data set]. Bureau of Transportation Statistics, US Department of Transport. Retrieved from https://www.bts.gov/content/tonnage-top-50-us-water-ports-ranked-total-tons
- United States. (2018-f). USPTO fee schedule [web]. United States Patent and Trademark Office. Retrieved from https://www.uspto.gov/learning-and-resources/fees-and-payment/uspto-fee-schedule
- United States. (2017). *Online privacy law: France* [web]. The Library of Congress. Retrieved from https://www.loc.gov/law/help/online-privacy-law/2012/france.php
- United States. (2015-a). *General information concerning patents* [web]. United States Patent and Trademark Office. Retrieved from https://www.uspto.gov/patents-getting-started/general-information-concerning-patents#heading-2
- United States. (2015-b). Summary of the food quality protection act [web]. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/laws-regulations/summary-food-quality-protection-act
- United States. (2013). *About the office of water* [web]. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/aboutepa/about-office-water
- United States. (n.d.-a). Guidelines for the storage and collection of residential, commercial, and institutional solid waste [web]. Electronic Code of Federal Regulations. Retrieved from https:// www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/retrieveECFR?gp=&SID=c94567294dff611654af7a3944a91d69&mc =true&r=PART&n=pt40.27.243
- United States. (n.d.-b). *Indian and Native American programs* [web]. U.S. Department of Labor. Retrieved from https://www.dol.gov/general/topic/training/indianprograms
- United States. (n.d.-c). *Maintain your patent* [web]. United States Patent and Trademark Office. Retrieved from https://www.uspto.gov/patents-maintaining-patent/maintain-your-patent
- United States. (n.d.-d). *Patent FAQs* [web]. United States Patent and Trademark Office. Retrieved from https://www.uspto.gov/help/patent-help
- United States. (n.d.-e). *Patent process overview* [web]. United States Patent and Trademark Office. Retrieved from https://www.uspto.gov/patents-getting-started/patent-process-overview#step3
- United States. (n.d.-f). *Title 40: protection of the environment* [web]. Electronic Code of Federal Regulations. Retrieved from https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/retrieveECFR?gp=1&SID=287870523535af49d3562aec528d94c9&ty=HTM-L&h=L&n=40y17.0.1.1.4&r=PART
- United States. (n.d.-g). Unemployed persons by industry and class of worker, not seasonally adjusted (Table A-14.) [data set]. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.bls. gov/news.release/empsit.t14.htm
- United States. (n.d.-h). U.S. census bureau quick facts [web]. United States Census Bureau. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/RHI125218#RHI125218

- Vanguard Software Corporation (n.d.) The Top 9 Best Practices for Food & Beverage Manufacturers. Retrieved from https://www.vanguardsw.com/resources-list/food-and-beverage-manufacturers-white-paper/
- Waitrose. (n.d.). *Discover our exclusives* [web]. Waitrose. Retrieved from https://www.waitrose. com/content/waitrose/en/home/inspiration/about_waitrose/about_our_food/our_ brands.html?wtrint=1-Content-_-2-About%20Waitrose-_-3-Brandsandawards-_-4--_-5text-_-6-brands
- Walmart Inc. (2020-a). 2020 annual report [PDF file]. Walmart Inc. Retrieved from https:// s2.q4cdn.com/056532643/files/doc_financials/2020/ar/Walmart_2020_Annual_Report. pdf
- Walmart Inc. (2020-b). 2019 annual report: Defining the future of retail [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://s2.q4cdn.com/056532643/files/doc_financials/2019/annual/Walmart-2019-AR-Final.pdf
- Walmart Inc. (2019-a). *Defining the future of retail* [PDF file]. Walmart Inc. Retrieved from https:// s2.q4cdn.com/056532643/files/doc_financials/2019/annual/Walmart-2019-AR-Final.pdf
- Walmart Inc. (2019-b). *Defining the future of retail* [PDF file]. Walmart Inc. Retrieved from https:// s2.q4cdn.com/056532643/files/doc_financials/2019/annual/Walmart-2019-AR-Final.pdf
- Walmart Inc. (n.d.-a). *Great value* [web]. Retrieved from https://www.walmart.ca/en/great-value/N-1019684
- Walmart Inc. (n.d.-b). *Great value* [web]. Walmart Inc. Retrieved from https://www.walmart.com/ search/?query=great%20value
- Water Environment Partnership in Asia. (n.d.). *Water Pollution Control Law* [web]. Retrieved from http://www.wepa-db.net/policies/law/japan/wpctop.htm
- Woolworths Group. (2019). *Better together: 2019 annual report* [PDF file]. Woolworths Group. Retrieved from https://www.woolworthsgroup.com.au/icms_docs/195582_annual-report-2019.pdf
- Woolworths Group. (n.d.-a). Australian food: Woolworths supermarkets [web]. Woolworths Group. Retrieved from https://www.woolworthsgroup.com.au/page/about-us/our-brands/supermarkets/Woolworths
- Woolworths Group. (n.d.-b). *Our brands* [web]. Woolworths Group. Retrieved from https://www. woolworths.com.au/shop/discover/our-brands
- World Bank. (2018-a). *Rail lines (total route-km) France* [web]. World Bank. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IS.RRS.TOTL.KM?locations=FR
- World Bank. (2018-b). *Rail lines (total route-km) Germany* [web]. World Bank. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IS.RRS.TOTL.KM?locations=DE
- World Bank. (2018-c). Rail lines (Total Route-km) Italy [web]. World Bank. Retrieved from https:// data.worldbank.org/indicator/IS.RRS.TOTL.KM?locations=IT
- World Bank. (2018-d). *Rail lines (total route-km) United Kindom* [web]. World Bank. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IS.RRS.TOTL.KM?locations=GB
- World Bank. (2011). *Rail lines (total route-km) Australia* [web]. World Bank. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IS.RRS.TOTL.KM?locations=AU
- World Bank. (2010). *Rail lines (total route-km) Netherlands* [web]. World Bank. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IS.RRS.TOTL.KM?locations=NL
- World Economic Forum. (n.d.). *Global competitiveness report 2019* [web]. Retrieved from https:// www.weforum.org/reports/global-competitiveness-report-2019/
- World Education News and Reviews. (2019). *Education in Mexico* [web]. WENR. Retrieved from https://wenr.wes.org/2019/05/education-in-mexico-2